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EXECUTIVE SUMMAR

This Internal Review was commissioned by the Chief Executive of Cornwall Partnership NHS
Trust.

The purpose of its remit was to review the care and treatment afforded 1o PG during the period of
his contact with Cornwall Partnership Trust from 19 November 2002 until 11 March 2003,
following which he allegedly killed his wife LG and subsequently took his own life on 21 May
2003,

In undertaking this remit it was also the Review Panel’s 1ask 1o consider issues relating to the care
of LG who was a patient of Cornwall Partnership Trust from 23 December 2002 until 11 March
2003,

The Panel was appointed in June 2003, In the course of the Review the Panel heard evidence
from a wide range of professionals and also sought advice and clarification from o number of
experts.

The Review Report falls into four chapiers supported by a number of appendices, The first
section is in the form of a preface. This, and the following two chapters (one and two) deal
respectively with an introduction to the Review process, a factual summary, and an overview of
the events surrounding LG's death: and management and practice issues. Chapter three deals with
care management problems (according to the ALARM protocol) and chapter four gives
recommendations. There are eight appendices for further information.
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ABBREVIATIONS

ACI - Acting Chief Inspector (police)
AMA - Against Medical Advice (Form)
AV - [redacted information]
ASW - Approved Social Worker
BF - Blackberry Farm
BM - [redacted information]
CBT - Cognitive Behavioural Therapy
CHT - Cornwall Healthcare Trust (now Cornwall Partnership
Trust)
CMHT - Community Mental Health Team
CPA - Care Programme Approach
CPN - Community Psychiatric Nurse
CPT - Cornwall Partnership Trust
DO - [redacted information]
DW - [redacted information]
ECG - Electro Cardio Graph
GC - [redacted information]
F Grade - Grading within A — | grading structure for clinical
nurses
G Grade - Grading within A — | grading structure for clinical
nurses
GP - General Practitioner
PG - Subject of the Review
H/O - History of
HSG - Health Service Guidance
IPR - Individual performance review (staff appraisal
process)
KW - [redacted information]
LG - Homicide victim — wife
LW - [redacted information]
MA - [redacted information]
MAPP - Multi-Agency Protection Panel
MF - [redacted information]
MH - [redacted information]
MW - [redacted information]
MP - [redacted information]
MHA - Mental Health Act 1983
MW - [redacted information]
NE - [redacted information]
NSF - National Service Framework
O/N - Overnight
OPA - Outpatient appointment
PC - Police Constable
PICU - Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit
RMO - Responsible Medical Officer
SHO - Senior House Officer (doctor)
SK - [redacted information]
ST - [redacted information]
SW - [redacted information]
SWPHA - South West Peninsula Health Authority
TADs - Training all day sessions (Cornwall Social Services)
VB - [redacted information]
VT - [redacted information]

Page 5 of 70



INTRODUCTION

i

This report sets out the findings and recommendations of a Review into the care and
treatment of PG, The Chief Executive, Cormnwall Partnership NHS Trust following
the alleged homicide of LG by PG on 21 May 2003, commissioned the Review, The
terms of reference are at Appendix A,

e

At the time of the homicide PG was discharged from the Carrick Mental Health
Services of Cornwall Partnership Trust (date of discharge 11.3.03).

3. Membership of the Review Panel comprised Dr Margaret Cogan, Consultant Clinical
Psychologist and Deputy Director of Psychology, Dr Marilvn Mitchell, Consultant
Psychiatrist and Associnte Medical Director, Tim Jones Service Manager, (Older
Persons Mental Health Service).

4. All references to PG have been anonymised and we have adopted the expedient of
PG The identity of his alleged victim has been similarly reduced to the use of capital
letters LG, However, the need for the accountability of the Services involved in
providing care (o PG prior to the homicide requires reference to staff members. This
is done by initial with names given in the abbreviation list,

5. There have now been close to one hundred external inquiries after o homicide by a
person under the care of the Mental Health Services, and as here the majority have
been commissioned in complinnee with HSG(94)27. Even so, there are no preseribed
procedures to be followed by such an inquiry, which have no statutory powers or
status, Until recently the sole guiding principle has been the concept of ‘faimess’,
recognised by the common law of England and Wales, However the Internal Review
Panel has chosen to follow the Protocol for the Investigation and Analysis of Clinical
Incidents (Clinical Risk Unit and ALARM September 1999),

6. The Panel 15 mindful of eriticisms in the process often adopted by Reviews into
homicides and the inherent difficulties in the methodology adopted. We have striven
to overcome these by adopting standards of procedure in accordance with good
practice.

7. This 15 the second Panel appointed to investigate the death of LG and the care and
treatment received by PG from the Mental Health Services. The first was appointed
in May 2003. The first Chair appointed asked to be removed from the process due to
a potential conflict of interest with his role as Manager of Carrick Mental Health
Services, A new Chair whose role within Comwall Partnership Trust was
independent of the area under investigation subsequently replaced his position.

a. The Review Panel has endeavored 1o deal with matters as expeditiously as possible,
but inevitably delays have been occurred, most of which have been compleiely
outside of the Panel’s control,

Review Procedure

9. In our view our procedures ensured that the Review was undertaken with expedition
and allowed for candour in evidence.
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Approach of the Review

11,

15.

16,

The Review Panel was acutely aware of the stress that i3 experienced by individuals
while a Review is under way and the perception of a “climate of blame’ that a Review
creates. It was crucial therefore that all witnesses were advised regarding a means of
support throughout the process and beyond.,

The Review Panel is of the view that *attaching blame” or finding scapegoats’ is not a
positive way forward. For that reason, focus is on a series of Care Management
problems identified through the ALARM Protocol.

We are also only too aware that some tragic incidents are unavoidable, and we do not
wish to perpetuate a culture, which thinks otherwise, We support the view that, as a
society, we must learn to understand that serious adverse incidents will sometimes
happen, and it is not always necessary or productive to find someone to blame as long
as lessons are leamt along the way,

Although mental health professionals must be accountable for good practice they
cannot ultimately be expected to carry complete responsibility for the actions of their
patients. There is a limit to the control and influence, which it is possible for them to
achieve over any individunl. 1t would also be wrong to overlook the right of a patient
to refuse interventions by the Services.

The Review Panel has considered the care and treatment received by PG throughoit
his time in contact with the Mental Health Services, n period of approximately four
months between 2002 and 2003, and focused particularly on the period November
2002 and March 2003, We have endeavored during our deliberations to come 1o
conclusions without the benefit of hindsight and to consider the standards of practice
that would have prevailed at the relevant time. However, it i3 accepted that some
degree of hindsight is both an acceptable and unavoidable aspect of any review,

The practice of mdividual practitioners has been judged by reference to that of a
reasonable and responsible body of practitioners in the relevant field.

This report contains the unanimous findings and comments of the Review Panel,

Documentation

17.

Documents used were the written care records (B Notes) from PG and LG, and
supporting documentation from health professionals. We have sought documentation
from the police via the Trust management system, but as vet this information has not
been provided,

Mectings with witnesses were held at the Carrick Community Mental Health Team
base at Pydar Street, Truro and the small meeting room at Bellingham House, Bodmin
Hospital.

The protocol followed the ALARM process, which included the completion of a post-

interview checklist of contributing factors completed by each witness following their
interviews,
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Administration

Although eventually supported by excellent individuals the administrative support to
the Review Panel was insufficient and inconsistent. Support was provided by a
number of administrative stall involved at different stages of the process. This clearly
hampered proceedings and alTected the coherence of the whole, It also increased the
worklond for the Review Panel, This said, we would like to thank the following for
their willing support Ann Conway, Trudy Ferguson, Maria Smith and Julie
Wotherspoon. The Trust necds to address this issue in any further Reviews ensuring
that such support is prioritised over other administration activity,

Acknowledgements

2.

We would like to offer our sympathies to the family and friends of PG and LG.
We would like to thank all the witnesses for their openness and willingness to

participate, Cornwall Partnership NHS Trust, Cornwall Social Services and Carrick
Central Primary Care Trust.
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2,

4,

CHAPTER |
FACTUAL SUMMARY AND OVERVIEW

It is reported that on 21 May 2003 PG was found hanged, dead at his property in
Comwall.  Prior o this, his wife LG had been found strangled in London, PG had been
a patient of the Carrick Community Mental Health Team and had recently used inpatient
services at Harvest Ward and Bowman Ward, Bodmin Hospital, and the Gwaviten Unit
at Truro. LG (wife) was referred to the 27 Lemon Street Counselling Service on 23
December 2002, which is co-ordinated by, and works alongside, Cornwall Partnership
Trusts and provides mild to moderate mental health services provision, She was seen for
two sessions of counselling and had three telephone conversation contacts. The final
contact was in February 2003 and she was discharged on 11 March 2003, This
counselling was in relation to the break up of her marriage and the threats her former
husband had been making in relationship to his own suicide,

PG was born and raised in Stratford-upon-Avon. He had at least one sister in Truro, His
father was a mechanic and, as far as we can ascertain, 15 stll alive in Cormwall, He
deseribed his ehildhood as a "normal little family” and he had a ‘normal schooling’. He
studied dentistry at London University and then worked in London for a year afier
graduation, After that he moved to Cornwall about twenty-five vears prior to the incident,
mainly because he did not like London, His wife LG worked as a dental nurse at the
dental practice where he worked in Cornwall and he described her as a “very altractive
woman',  They married shortly after, around 1974, and had two children, C
{(approximately 23 years of age) and M (approximately 21 vears of age).

PG made his money by buying and selling properties to achieve his current level of
prosperity, which was considerable. Four years prior to the incident PG had a gardening
pecident in which he lost the use of his fourth and middle fingers of his right hand., He
was unable to continue practicing as a dentist and retired with a private pension which
prohibited him from resuming any form of employment.

Social history: he lived between his yacht in Falmouth and his farm in Feock. His wife
LG (49 years old) resided at BF, Feock. His daughter C had recently married in New
Zealand two months prior to his first referral to the Mental Health Services and her
husband, it is thought, was attached to the Services. His son M was studving busincss
management in Oxford. PG's parents live in Comwall but he had little contact with them.
He also had a sister and her husband (a police officer) both living in Truro and who were
very supportive of him,

Mental illness and services

51

Prior to his referral 10 the Community Mental Health Services PG had no known
payehiatric history.

Over the period November 2002 to March 2003 PG had three informal admissions: to
Bowman Ward, Bodmin Hospital, 22.11.02 1o 25.11.02; Gwaynten Unit 21.12.02 to
23.12.02; Harvest Ward 14.2.03 10 17.2.03, Throughout the rest of the lour-month period
he was supported by the Carrick Community Mental Health Team. Carrick Mental
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Health Services discharged him following a Multidisciplinary Meeting on 11 March
2003.

CHAPTER 2

'HRONOLOGY OF EVENTS

First Admizsion — Bowman Ward

IBuc

10.

12,

PGowas admitted to Bowman Ward, Bodmin Hospltal from Treliske Hospital, Truro
on 21 November 2002, The cireumstances of his admission to Treliske were that he
had taken an overdose on 19.11L.02, was admitted to Treliske, discharged himself
against medieal advice and was rendmitted on 20.11.02 following a second overdose,
Both overdoses were extremely serious and oceurred after he had consumed quite
Iarge amounts of aleohol,

The first overdose apparently occurred at his home, where he was found by a
member of his family still conscious, but with empty bottles of alcohol and pills and
u londed gun on the table in front of him. Following admission to hospital he
discharged himself the next day against medical advice in a sober state claiming he
was no longer suicidal.

Later that day he was discovered on his yacht by his sister in an unconscious state,
having tnken most of the contents of the medication kept on the yacht (it is suggested
that 100 x DF118) with a suicide note after locking the yaeht's eabin. On this second
occasion he was brought to Treliske Hospital and assessed there by KW, Consultant
Psychiatrist (working with the Psychiatric Linison Service). KW was very
concerned about him and recommended that PG should be detained in hospital
under Section 2 of the MHA with which the GP agreed. However later on that same
day (Z1.11L02) when the Social Worker arrived to do his part of the Section 2 PG
had changed his mind and was willing ai that time to come into hospital as an
informal patient. The ASW did not complete his part of the Section 2 and instead
recommended he be admitted ag an informal patient. He was teansferred over to
Bodmin Hospital on 22.11.02 a3 an Informal patient there being no beds available in
the Gwaynien Unit and in accordunce with the Bed PPolicy at the time,

round o this T

PG oretired Trom dentistry four years previously following an aceident in which he
lost the tips of two of the fingers of his right hand and was currently in receipt of o
pension.

PG had recently returned from a yachting trip to New Zealand where his daughter
C had recently married. He sailed with his son M and his wife LG until they
reached Spain, at which point his wife and son returned to the UK by air while he
sailed the yacht back with two other crewmembers. Due to storms this trip took him
the better part of a month and he only arrived in the UK about two weeks prior to
admission. Over the period of this journey his wife apparently spent about £4000
(he alleged) on elothes and shoes in London.

On arrival in Falmouth he was not met on the dockside by his wife who instead
arrived late and had dinner with him. Over the course of this dinner she told him
that she wanted *some space’ so that she could go and live in London and enjoy the
*high life’ as he put it. She knew that he did not like London or the lifestyle much
and in effect she was nsking for a break up of their marriage of twenty-six years,
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13.

14.

15,

16.

PG beeame very upset and after the dinner, outside the restaurant, he admitted that
he grabbed her and threw her to the ground but did not otherwise injure her in any
way.

PG did not see his wife again, until an arranged meeting at a motorway station a few
days prior to his admission, during which she made it much clearer that she did not
wish to continue the marriage with him. He then returned (o the farm and
procecded to painstakingly cut up and destroy the two wardrobes of clothes and
shoes that LG had at the farm, before taking the first overdose (on 19.11.02).

PG described his presmorbid personality as a ‘black and white sort of chap’. He
tended to see things with clear distinctions without grey areas of uncertainty, He
also deseribed himself as not an emotional man and any outbursts of emotion were
quite abnormal for him, especially his behaviour over the preceding few days. He
said that he had never had anger or sadness to that extent before and was unable to
explain how he could have gone to the lengths of wanting to Kill himself, He
deseribed his personal history and it was quite elear that he regarded himsell as a
selF-made man starting out with a dental degree, moving into property dealing, to
arrive at his then currently materinlly wenlthy situation. He owned several
propertics, including a tower block in New Zealand, a villa in Spain, BF in Feock
and his vacht in Falmouth,

5 e warid

PG was initially very despondent following admission and had thoughts of suicide,
believing that Killing himself was “the best way out’, He explained that the reason
why he believed he should kill himsell was so that his children would get the money
from his insurance policy and deny his wife from taking any more of his money.
This explanation did not make much sense and sounded more like rntionalisation for
his suicidal ideas, rather than the actusl causes. Aecording to notes made over the
next two days on Bowman Ward and over the weekend he asked to be discharged as
hie said he wans no longer suicidal but he was persuaded to stay until Monday, 25
November 2002, when he could be seen at the ward round by the Consultant MP,
Locum Consultant, Cornwall Partnership NHS Trust. He did not pose any
hehavioural problems on the ward, nor did he make any attempis to harm himself in
any way.

MP saw PG at the ward round on 25 November 2002, At this interview many points
were discussed including the following from SW's® discharge letier:

1. “The circumstances leading up to his overdoses with specinl emphasis on his
thought processes. He ndmitted at the interview that his logic had been a bit
flawed in wanting to kill himself so as to provide flinancial security for his
children. In the event of his death, all of his property and belongings would
go to his wife, which meant that she would get everything instend of nothing,
ag he had originally said on admission. He also snid on admission that he
believed his children would prefer to have the money from his insurance
ruther than having him alive. At ward round he admitted that this also was
not true and he acknowledged that his son and daughter would be “absolutely
devastated” if he killed himself.

2. PG said that he would not attempt to kill himself anymore mainly because of

the cffect on his children. He also said that he wanted to live enough to see his
grand children (from C's marringe).
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3. He denied any homicidal infentions townrds his wife and while he admitied
that he was “very, very nngry at her™ for what she had done, he still “loved
her to bits”. He explained that the only way that he could hurt her was “in
the heat of the moment”, and if he could have done so, he would have, outside
the restaurant three weeks ago, but he did not,

4. He said that he accepted the fact that his marringe was effectively over, but
one worrying point was that he had not yet told his neighbours about this. He
explained that if he told his neighbours then that would make it real and
irrevocable, He did not seem to have any plans cither, to tell his neighbours
sometime in the near future. His internal beliefs about his relationship
therefore, seemed to be at odds with his spoken beliefs but he did not seem to
be aware of this.

5. He blamed his wife for “destroying™ his marriage and the family by her
actions. Her statement compounded his anger that ghe had not loved him for
the last ten years and what he sees as a carcfully orchestrated plan on her part
to leave him at this time, He believed that this plan started as far back as six
years ago, resulting in her taking a lot of his money and all her jewellery
nmong other things. Again this is PG's version of events and 1 feel u collateral
history from his wife might put things somewhat differently. There is definite
polarisation of PG's feelings towards his wife, as on the one hand he is very
angry at her for what he sees ns her betrayal over the Iast six to ten years and
her “destroying the family™, but on the other hand he said he still loved her to
bits and that if he could, he would “set the clock back four weeks™, to when
everything was still alvight,

6. This polarisation is quite clearly u continuation of his pre morbid personality
in terms of his “black and white™ way of seeing things, MP put it to him that
while that mood of thinking proves to be very successful in getting him to
where he was now; it was currently hampering his ability to cope with events.
He sugpested that perhaps it would be useful to be able fo come to a
compromise in dealing with events, to see the situation as shades of grey
rather than black and white. For example, he challenged PG on his belief that
the family was “destroyed™ by the divoree nccording to PG’s black and white
philosophy. PG admitted that while the family was no longer functioning as a
unit, its individual members could still continue to live and grow, which he
grudgingly admitted was not the old black picture that he painted, although
he still maintained “its definitely not the same”,

7. We talked about his plans for his immediate future and he denied that he had
ever told his daughter that he would try to kill himself as soon as he lefi
hospital, and that “this time they won't find me™. (MP Iater discussed this
with PG's  daughter, and she confirmed that he had said this, although it
scems he was under the influence of opiates and alcohol at the time just after
his overdose). He said he planned to spend more time on his boat and get it
rendy to sail to New Zealand in the next two months. He talked of selling off
all his properties here in Europe before sailing away. He also said that he
looked forward to spending more time with his children and talked of
volunteering his yacht to teach Sea Cadets at Falmouth, as he enjoyed
teaching the younger oncs how to sail,

8. He admitted that since his wife left him he had been having problems with his
sleep, appetite, weight loss, concentration, mood, and that he had been “crying
all the time”. He also broke down in fears at several points during the
interview, for example, when talking about his wife or the “destruction™ of his
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17.

18.

20,

family. He said that this was very abnormal behaviour for him and that he
was “not an emotional sort of chap™ He was offered anti-depressants at
several times before and after his admission and again at this ward round but
he refused to take any sort of medicntion.

9. If discharged on that day he said, he intended to go back to his yacht and stay
there on his own, although he said that there were many other yachts and
people in them in close proximity to him. He was persunded to go instead to
BF, where his daughter and her husband are currently staying and to aceept
their support, although initially he was very resistant to this idea. He felt that
his daughter should not need to stay at the farm with him, but should instead
be back in Aldershot with her husband because as he explained, she was
newly married and he did not want to upset her marringe at this early stage.
He was finally dissunded of this notion, which I wonder might have come from
either his feclings of worthlessness or rationalisation to justify him being on
his own 50 as to isolate himself, He also seemed quite determined to attempt
to leave cither that day or the next. He maintained that being on the ward
was actually doing him more harm than good.”

25.11.02 PG was referred to the Carrick Community Mental Health Team, Visited at
home by AV, CPN, accompanied by a student nurse, A screening assessment was carried
out. Sereened into Adult Mental Services,

27.11.02. AV attempted a home visit. There was no reply. Attempls were made to
contact him by phone but again there was no response. His sister was contacted with only
answer phone responac. The Team Leader, GC, was contacted and she was advised io
leave a message on the answer phone, to try and contact the brother<in<law, and if no luck
to phone the police to check his vacht. His brother-in-law answered the phone and
explained that he and PG had been on the phone all the moring. He gave his wife's
mobile so the CPN could contact PG. PG's phone was engaged. Again his sister was
contacted with no response. His brother-in-law stated PG's mood had improved; they
were aware of the risks and had removed all tablets available and his air gun, A final
attempt to contact PG met with no response,

2.12.02. PG's sister was contacted and she stated that she had seen PG earlier and was
concerned over his mood but he had visited his GP and been prescribed antidepressants at
his request. The CPN spoke with PG who was on a train to London planning to visit his
wife.  He then planned to visit his son in Oxford and return 1o see KW on 6,12.02,

4.12.02. AV contacted PG on his mobile and confirmed that he was visiting his son in
Oxford. She arranged a home visit the following morning on his return,

5.12.02. AV saw PG at home. He was a bit calmer and somewhat tearful, thinking of his
children. He had approached the Lifeboat Truining Service to see if he could help but due
to his age and disability this was not possible. He was planning to get an English bulldog,
He was encouraged to remain active and spend time with supportive people. Medication
prescribed was Dothiepin, a tricyclic antidepressant taken on a split dose. He deseribed
his mood as swinging between thinking of plans for his future and times of despair. He
did not admit to further thoughts of suicide and he was urged to discuss these if his mood
lowered. A further appoiniment was arranged to meet with him on 10 December 2002,
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22.

23.

27.

28.

6.12.02, Seen by KW in outpatients, He expressed suicidal ideation with no intent
planning for the future. He was considering a referral to Relate but his wife declined, His
nntidepressant was changed for purposes of safety to Mirtazapine. Hospital admission
was offered but he refused.

10.12.02. AV phoned PG on his mobile and left a message. PG phoned KW's secretary
stating that he was going to Antigun for a few weeks, He was advised to contact his GP
for medication,

11.12.02. PG was contacted by AV. He informed her he was no longer going on the trip.

13.12.02. PG was contacted,  He was taking medication but was feeling disorientated as
a result of his life feeling totally disrupted.

16.12.02. PG phoned AV. He had had a bad night with negative thoughts, His wife was
planning to return over Christmas and this had made him feel somewhat better and he
asked for some sleeping tablets, He had had some disturbing thoughts at night when he
had thought of doing something to *mess everything up’. He stated he had an AK47 gun,
which he had purchased whilst abroad in order to pratect his wife and himsell from
pirates. He was advised 1o hand his gun to his brother-in-law (a police officer) and this he
Matly refused to do. He was angry that his wife did not wish to return straight away, He
wis encouraged to give his wife LG the time and space she required.

16.12.02, AV contacted her line manager VT over her concerns about PG owning a gun,
They discussed the options on PG being able to hand the gun in without repercussions
regarding an illegal weapon. A prescription for night sedation was made available from
his GP. AV contacted PG to tell him of this and to emphasise her concerns about the
gun., PG refused to hand the gun to his brother-in<law or any Health Authority and said
he would not do anything silly and if he was going to, could climb in his car and poison
himself with carbon monoxide. It was made clear to him by AV that her concerns for his
safety would over-ride any {ssues of confidentiality and thai she would inform KW, He
stated that he would get rid of the gun by dropping it at sea. AV stated that she would
prefer he handed it in and that she would still inform KW, Again he reiternted that he
would drop the gun over the side of his dinghy when he was out at sea. KW was then
contacted with these concerns and PG was re-contacted when he assured AV that he had
disposed of ‘the article” and was feeling much better and had subsequently collected his
medication. KW was further informed and an urgent outpatient appointment arranged to
meet KW on 18.12.02,

VT contacted LG to make her aware of general concerns. LG was only able to reeall a
shotgun, which was left in Malta,

17.12.02. PG was contacted by AV and an appointment made to see him at
Threemilestone Surgery on 18.12,02, which he subsequently cancelled. He was aware
that this further appointment was linked to the concern over the gun and assured her that
he would not harm anyone. He also declined the outpatient appointiment with KW, He
then spoke at length about his concerns regarding LG's return and his anger over her
actions, He also stated that he would prefer just to maintain telephone contact at that time
as that was all he required.

18.12.02, Phone call from PG saying that his wife had contacted him to say that she had
had a phone call from the Health Authority advising her that she was at risk and should
not return that weekend, He was very concerned about it and he was urged 10 keep his
appointment with KW,

Page 14 of 70



Second Admission - Gwavnten Unit

30.

31.

32

33.

34,

35,

36.

21.12.02. PG was admitted informally to Gwaynten Unit, Truro. He had been
expecting his wife to return that day and this ‘kept him going®’. However she had
rung to say that she wouldn’t be returning. He then drove his tractor into the
kitchen with the intent to poison himself with the fumes, which proved too smelly,
and he subsequently gave up. He then went driving in his Porsche with the intention
of crashing his car and ending his life, possibly whilst speaking to his wife on his
maobile, but eventually he was unable to proceed with this. He felt both attempts
were manipulative and cries for help, but that his earlier attempts with the gun and
overdose were serious. Although he was distressed and close to tears he insisted he
wns sufe to return home and pinned his hopes on his wife returning. He was
reluctant to be admitted despite attempis to stress the serlousness of his risk at that
time. He was andamant that he did not want a Menial Health Act assessment and
feared being detained might stop him from being able to live in America or
Australin so he agreed to stay, 1t was explained that leave could be negotiated for 23
December (a family birthday) and Christmas, after consultation with KW. A suicide
note had been written to his wife/children. He made comments such as ‘I can’t go on
without her’ and stated that he wished his previous attempis vin overdose had been
successful. He denied suicidal intent but was preoceupied with his wife leaving. He
admitted also to having previously hit people or *flooring them with judo’ as he was
n bluck belt.

22.12.02, PG was much brighter. His wife was returning to Cornwall following a
conversation with her and she had declared her ambivalence nbout leaving him.

22.12.02. PG wished to leave the ward but was persuaded to stay,

23.12.02, PG seen by SK who had contact with LG.  She sounded very
distressed, she stated that she was finding the whole situation distressing and that
lier hushand was pushing her to make a decision about their marringe. She stated
that she did not wish to live with him any longer and was afraid to tell him this. She
felt that he may react and kill himself und was more worried about his safety than
hers. She also believed that he was manipulative, at high risk of causing great
poxicty 0 himsell and family. It was explained to her that it was essential that she
looked to her own safety as a priority and that if she felt unsafe she should be with
someone when she decided to tell him she was leaving.

23.12.02. PG seen by KW who made a dingnosis of further dysfunctional depressive
response to crisis. He noted circular content to his thinking and he was preoccupied
with relationships and past faillures. He was adamant he wished to leave, KW made
a recommendation for detention under the MHA Section 2. PG felt that Section 2
was inappropriate. He felt safe at home and denied uny possibility of killing himself.
It was considered by KW that PG was at high risk of harm to himself and his wife,
It was explained to him that Section 2 would not affect his residency abrond.

23,1202, PG seen by his GP MF who felt unable to support the Section 2 as he felt
PG's presentation was plausible. He had known PG for a number of years.

23.12.02. PG scen at ward round by KW, The elinieal decision was that he was at a
high risk of self-harm and of harming his wile, He was advised he needed to stay on
the ward, He stated that he planned to go to America with his wife and believed that
the detention would stop him.
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37. PG was insisting on sclf-discharge agninst medical advice and a full risk

assessment wans cnrried out. KW was consulted and aware of the failure of
completion of the earlier MHA assessment, and felt that they were no longer able to
detuin I'G in hospital.

38, His brother-in-law (the policeman) was contacted; the risk was explained that PG

was al high risk of suicide, particularly in association with large amounts of aleshol.
All relevani information was then handed over to the Out of Hours Team.

39, PG subsequently took his discharge against medical advice with TTOs. He was

urged to contact his CPN as soon as possible and he was in receipt of the Out of
Hours telephone contact number.,

40, 2.01.03. AV carried out a home visil. PG was feeling low and hated being alone. He

was drinking aleohol to excess and on one oceasion his son had not been able to rouse
him and had called an ambulance, He had also left o suicide note, He was also angry
about LG’s intentions, He felt he was o bad person who had done lots of bad things.

- 200103, Further visit by AV. The risk of excessive alcohol was explained to him when

he felt vulnerable. She described the need for routine, OPA organised 1o see KW,

- 15.01.03. Seen by KW, His mood remained low and he admitied to excessive alcohol

43.

44

45.

46,

47.

18,

44,

consumption, An appointment had been arranged for him by the psychologist to see a
private psychotherapist which he planned to keep but PG and LG had not made any
efforts to seck marriage guidance., His antidepressant medication was incrensed and a
sedative provided.

24.01.03. PG saw DO Clinical Psychologist for initinl assessment.

ZB.01.03. AV visited nt home, He was requesting to see the clinical psychologist again to
see what form the therapy could take and was requesting phone contact only from AV.

31.01. 03. Seen by DO, PG accompanied by his wife, for further assessment and for
suitability for psychotherapy and subsequently PG sought an appointment with MW,
Consultant Psychotherapist on a private basis,

31.01. 03 Letter from DO 1o AV

13.02.03. PG phoned AV, His wife had phoned him and he felt that this was a critical
time about their future and her decision, He was advised to stay occupied. An
anonymous Valentine’s card had upset him. He had seen two psychotherapists, both of
whom he deseribed as “rubbish’. He again did not want any further visits, preferring a
phone call as and when needed.

13.02.03. AV received a phone call from the Surgery stating that someone had called 1o
express concerns about PG's mental health, However following further contaet with PG
there was no noted change in his mental state, although he was somewhal learful,

13.2.03. KW's secretary received information regarding an incident with a gun, The GP
was contacted who was unaware of the incident. He called the Custody Centre in
Newquay and ascertained that PG had been arrested. VB Duty Consultant Psychiatrist
saw him, She wrote o full letter on 19 February 2003 to KW as follows: “On 14
February 2003 PG had made threats of suicide to his wife, stating that it would only take
n minute, and had wrung from her a promise to come down by train to visit him.
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Speaking later on the phone to his mother-in-law he was told that his wife was not
coming. He then threatened to kill himself with a gun and when his mother-in-law
expressed doubt that he had a gun “clicking” noises were heard over the phone as though a
gun was being cocked and the trigger pulled. The police were called and an armed Unit
came to the house at about 3 am. According to the police PG seemed intoxicated nnd was
npgressive with them. He said apparently ‘1 don'i care i you shoot me®. He was amresied
for possession of a frearm.”
50. VB felt that PG probably had a mental disorder of some sort and that he
required a further assessment to be more sure of its precise nature She felt he was an
intelligent man, well read about mental illness, who was good at “pressing the right
buttons’ and she was concerned that he might be disguising his psychopathology in an
attempt to avoid being detained, She also stated that he might have depression, although
“it is hard to gauge the severity at the moment. He is very angry and sees no hope for the
future. He talks of having to do things but there seems to be nothing he is actually
looking forward to. He sees things rather negatively, for example his family life is
ruined.” VB made references to KW's previous letter, 30 January 2003, and the risk of
suicide and homicide. She also considered whether he had a psychopathic personality
disorder as he had problems with jealousy and possessiveness.  He had little regard for
the feelings of others. She also commented that she had no doubt that he was 4 danger to
his wife LG and that his behaviour had been geared towards getting his own way in a
manner that could be deseribed ns manipulative. She was also concerned that he appeared
to have a gun with him, borrowed from a neighbour, when he was expecting LG to visit
and that he had cocked it to his mother-in-law down the phone. She accepted that there
were risks to admission in that it may antagonise him and worsen the situation and that it
may have some effect on his ability to travel around the world, but on balance believed
that the risks of admission for assessment were less than those of not doing so.

51. Although the Section 2 was not completed by DW the Approved Social Worker VB was
ol the view that the Section should proceed as his agreement to admission was not
relinble. However following this she undersiood that he would be admitted informally 1o
Gwaynten but having arrived he asked for a single room and made an offer to pay for one,
This request could not be granted and therefore he went to leave the ward, She did not
feel it advisable to detain him at Gwaynten, as she did not leel that there were sufficient
nuises to salely contain him if the situation became violent. He signed an AMA form but
returned after five minutes having been told by his brother-in-law that the police would
arrest him il he left the ward ns he was charged with an outstanding firearms offence and
would return to the police cell. It was not felt appropriate for him to remain on
Gwaynten, as the Unit was not secure and with few stalf at might.  Although PG at this
stage was quite polite VB was concerned that the situation might “blow up” again and as a
consequence he was transferred to Harvest Ward st Bodmin Hospital as an informal
patient, VB was of the view that he might warrant a formal forensic assessment,

Third Admission — Harvesi Ward

52, 16, 02,03 = PG not sleeping well and requesting staff presence. He was noted to have
repetitive thought processes and was phoning Iriends and family frequently. PG
received a phone eall from the police stating that if he continued to harass his
mother=in=law he would be cautioned. He also had a lady visitor whom he elaimed
was his sister but who was thought to be a friend.

53. 17.02.03. PG was requesting to leave and ndvised to discuss this with NE at the next
ward round. The police were contacted and there were no outstanding charpes
awaiting him. An ECG was carried out which showed a mild tachycardin with
cetopi only,
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L]

. 17.02.03, NE Consultant Paychiateist on Harvest, had n discussion with KW in

which formulation was discussed, it was noted that PG was not showing signs of
maood dizsorder or any other psvehosis,

NE documents about PG

Personality traits include over-controlling behaviour but he is not detainable under
the Mental Health Act and does not require hospital treatment.

Possibility of gun at home. 7 where is neighbour’s shotgun. Inform police,
Wife iz aware of visks and police need to be involved, as she is concerned,
Medical investigations.

Nursing Team has spoken to wile on the telephone and has advised that she needs
to seek legal ndvice or contact the police if threats are made to her,

Copy of discharge letter to be sent to GP and CPN to be informed.

Communiiv Care - 3

55.

56.

57.

58.

59,

17.02.03 GP informed of PG's discharge and message left for CPN AY to visit. Property
returned. Discharge paperwork completed.,

21.02.03. PG seen by MW, Consultant Psvchotherapist and Approved Analyst. All he
hnd been able to offer was an extended assessment, However the assessmeit could not be
completed us PG left quickly after the second session, “to be close to his wile’,

At a discharge planning meeting on 11 March 2003 ot Pydar Street with PG, KW, VT
and DO, PG's mental state was noted to be more stable und he was not clinically
depressed, He had abstained from aleohol over three weeks and felt he was through the
worst of this ¢risis and moving on.  He was happy with his present prescribed dose of
medication. He agreed that his commitment to his new therapist made the roles of the
CMHT redundant and was happy 1o be discharged back 10 his GF's care,

16.04.03, AV wrote to GP a discharge letter stating that PG had found a “therapist” and
they appeared to have developed a good relationship. She was providing marital guidance
to him and his wife and she was involved in charity work in South Africa. PG was
actively pursuing this charitable work as a viable way of being occupied and feel useful
without jeopardising his retirement income, and he had already organised significant
contributions from various dental organisations,

23.05.03. Reported that PG found dead.
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CHAFTER 3
CARE MANAGEMENT PROBLEMS

In order to systematically investigate and analyse the care received by PG and LG the
Internal Review Panel adopted the *Protocol for the Investigation and Analysis of Clinical
Incidents” published by the Chinical Risk Unit of the University College London and
ALARM (Association of Litigation and Risk Management) in September 1999,

In accordance with the protocol, through scrutiny of the climcal record and interviewing
staff involved, the panel has identified a series of Care Management Problems (CMPs),

Care Management Problems are described in the protocol as “actions or omissions by staff in
the process of care™.

For each Care Management Problem the Clinical Context and Patient Factors are described.
These record the salient clinical events and other patient factors affecting the process of
care,

For each Care Management Problem the framework has guided the Internal Review Panel 1o
identify Specific Contributory Factors and General Contributory Factors, The protocol suggests
that Specific Contributory Factors may be:

= Individual factors may include lack of knowledge or experience of particular staff
= Task factors might include the non-availability of test resulls or protocols

s Team factors might include poor communication between staff,

= Work environment might include high workload or inadequate staiTing,

Ihe protocol suggests that General Contributory Factors are those more general problems that
come to light through the considerntion of the specific contributory factors, The protocol
dleseribes examples such as:

Does the lack of knowledge shown on this occasion imply that this member of staff requires
additional training?

Daoes this particular problem with the protocol mean that the whale protocol needs to be
revised?

Does this specific instance of poor communication reflect more general problems within
the unit?

Is the high workload due to a temporary and unusual patient set of eircumstances, or is it a more
general problem affecting patient safety.

Ten Care Management Problems have been identified in relation to the care of PG, These
are identified using the format of “Annex A ¥ of the protocol.

For each Care Management Problem there is a deseription of the Organisational
Management and Institutional Factors and then a list of Implications and Action Points.

This information is provided in the following pages using an adapted version of the
“Investigation Form B” from the protocal,
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Investigation Form A
Taken from: A Protocol for the Analvsis of Clinical Incidents September 1999

Patients Name; PG
Incident Date: May 03

Principal Care Management Problems

Record Number: B-76354
Location: Cornwall and London

Summary of the Clinieal Incident

Homicide of LG in London and suicide of PG in Carrick

Care Management Problem

The variable understanding, implementation and adherence to policies.

2. The lack of Multi-agency working.

3. The "Extraordinary" patient,

4. Perception of the Forensic Service.

5. Documentation. _

6. Accumulation of Risk. B
7. Managing Personality Disorder.

8. Staff Supervision.

9. Staff Organisation, Leadership and Management.

10. Training,.

stalf Involved:

Care Co-ordinator: AV
Practice Care Manager: VT
Responsible Medical Officer: KW
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Taken from : A Protocol for the Analvsis of Clinical Incidents September 1999

CARE MANAGEMENT-FROBLEMS AND- CONTRIBUTORY-FACTORS

FORM

Care Management Problem

I. The variable understanding, implementation and adherence to policies.

Clinical Context and Patient Factors

= Throughout the clinical teams involved in the care of PG (and LG) there has been a variable
understanding of the key policies of Cornwall Partnership Trust relating to the assessment,
trentment ond care of Service Users, In particular the policies related 10!
Care co-ordination, Risk Assessment; Discharge Planiing, Bed Management,
Viilierable Aduls, Serlous Untoward Ineident.
= A full list of the relevant Trust policy framework considered in relation to this Care
Manageiment Problem 18 provided at Appendix G,

Contributory Factors

Specific

General

Work Environment
Carrick Community Team: The apparent tensions
between the community nursing stall al the
Thireemllestone sub base may have prevented the
Noaw of information regarding policies,

The Carrick CMHT has n named policy librarian
at the Pydar Street CMHT Base and coples of
policies are kept at the Threemilestone base.

There is o system in place ithroughout the
county io ensure that policies are accessible
however stalt in the different clinical arens
appeared not (o know how to access this
information, or did not recognizes the need
to access policies.

StalT report thal necessing the policies via
the Intranet is complex.

Team

The Care co-ordination and Clinical Risk
Assessment policies: appenr to be understood
differently by different members of the same
ienms, An example of this is in relation to the
different levels of care co-ordination, in particular
enthanced and priority.

Carrick CMHT: Appeared to have an informal
approach o policy ndherence,

Harvest : Appeared to adapted policies w the local
environiment.

Ciwpynten, Decisions on bed management at night
appeared to be made outside of the policy
framewaork.

Throughout the different clinical
environments training on the content of
policies appears to have been varlable,

Inpatient teams tended 1o view risk once the
service user was out of hospital as a
Community responsibility,
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Individual
Practice Care Manager :(VT) appeared to have a
lack of understanding of the policies that existed,
their content and when they should be applied,

Serious Untoward Incident policy: Managers and
stafT demonstrated a variable interpretation of this
policy, particularly in relation to what constitutes
a Serious Untoward Incident. In particular there
was a variation in view as whether the siege
scenario, which lead to PG being arrested and
being gubject to a mental health assessment in a
custody center, was a Serious Untoward Incident,
It is also noted that nene of the clinical staff
involved in the care of PG immedintely following
this scenario ralsed the lssue as o Serious
Untoward Ineident to a manager. 11 only came to
the attention of a manager “On Call” later in the
day that the incident had happened when the
manager wis contacted by the Gwaynten unit
rejarding advice on the approprigteness of PG
being cared for in that environment, The manager
at the tima did not consider reporting the siege. It
i supggested that it it had been reported as such the
Leamning From Experience process would have
come into play, which would have highlighied o
number of key issues and ensured that the case of
PG and LG was discussed by others outside of the
ninmediate team.

The same comments apply 1o an carlier scenario
where elinicnl stalf were told that PG had in his
possession o firearm, The Carrick Community
Staff did not report this through an Incident
Report, Serious Untoward Incident, or Near miss
process, Mor was o multi-agency risk review
ealled, The consequence was that no one outside
of the Team was aware of the potential risks.

There appeared to be o variable knowledge
base of the managers and all tiers of saff in
relation to policy content,

It would appear that individuals did not take
responsibility for following through various
aspects of the policy framework,

There Is a suggestion of a culture with in the
arganisation that pereeives policies as the
domain of senior managers and those who
write them, rather than practical working
documents that apply 1o clinienl practice,

There is a perception that oo many paolicies
exist for staiT to have o working
understanding of each of them.

Task
Threughout the treatment and care of PG the
aceumulation of risk was not identified, sdherence
1o appropriate policies would have identified this,

Care wis prnvidnd to PG without reference
lo the policy framewaork,

Organisational-Management. & Institutional Context Factors

|. The number and range of policies may be too great for operational staff to have a clear

working understnnding of them,

2. Critieal policies such s Core Co-ordination and Risk Assessmont (and Risk Management)
are long documents that may appear inaccessible to stalf,

Implications and action poinis

1. Cornwall Partnership Trust needs to stream line and simplify policies, providing accessible
documents that provide the essential amount of information to all staff to ensure good,

sinfe, clinical care.

2. Cornwall Partnership Trust needs to identify and prepare a tier of key staff (for example
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the Practice Care Managers) to understand the detail of the policy and who can coscade
clearly their understanding of the policy, and who can be expected to be the local policy
expert.

A training process needs to be further developed by Cornwall Partnership Trust to ensure
that stafT are aware of the policy framework and the key content of the policles,

There is a need Cornwall Partnership Trust to ensure that in the working lives of elinical
stifT there is an apportunity for the assimilation of policy confent.

Through audit and review Comwall Partmership Trust needs 1o ensire that stafT have the
understanding and knowledge of policies and their application necessary for safe practice,
and that such review becomes an ongoing part of Continuing Professional Development
and Supervision.
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Taken from ;A Protocol for the Analvsis of Clinical Incldents Sepiember 1999

CARE MANAGEMENT-PROBLEMS AND- CONTRIBUTORY-FACTORS FORM

Care Management Problem

2. The lack of Multi-ngency working

Clinical Context and Patient Factors
= Although PG and LG were both service users of Cornwall Partnership Trust there was no process
pul in place to share information, concerns and risks.
= li appears that concerns related 1o risks were not communicated to the palice,
= At no time wns a multi-agency forum convened 1o discuss, assess and manage risk.

Contributory Factorsy

Specific General
Work Environment
Carrlek Community Team: The remoteness of the Throughaut all of the elinieal tenms that had
Threemilestone sub-base from the rest of the contact with PG, stafl was unaware of any
Carrick CMHT, based at Pydar Street in Truro, formal linison armngemeanis between
may have impeded the sharing of information, Cormwall Partnership Trust and the police,

Apparent tensions within the Threemilestone -
team, particularly between nurses and the Proctice | The team management made no apparent
Core Manager, and between the Mild to Moderate | efTorts to address the tensions within the
service element (supporting LG) and the Severe | team or ensured that processes were in plice
Mentil [liness element (supporting PG) may have | 10 ensure smooth communication.

reduced clfective communication,

Team |
Carrick Community Team: kept risks contained Although some staff were aware of the
within the team in the beliel that the therapeutic | Process at no paint in the mental health

relationship would be damaged if they did service’s contact with PG was a Multi-
otherwise, and that loss of the thernpeutic agency protection of the public process
relationship would present its own risks. Iriggered.

The Team appears to have prioritized the

therapeutic relationship over public safety. The focus of public safety did not nppear

high on the sgenda.

Individual
The “On call” consultant (VB) belleved that the | No reference was made to the existence of
Forensic Assessment provided though Harvest any Trust policy that would guide stafl

Ward would ensure the appropriate multi-agency | foward multi-ngency sharing of risk.

communication.
Although processes exist in the organization

The G grade nurse (ST) working in the Mild to for resolving disagreements in clinical
Moderate service supporting LG requested a opinion within teams there is no evidence of
multi-ngency review but this was not thought to be this process being used in the case of either
necessary by other members of the team. PG or LG

Consequently it did not happen.

Task
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PG had at one paint reported o a member of the Staft were unnware on any obligation on
Carrick Community Team that he had in his them to report the n]ll:gt:l;l possession of
possession an automatic firearm. This was firearm to the appropriate authority.
discussed in the team and it was decided not to
report this to the police, s a relative of PG who It appears thai staff had an unrealistie
was o policeman had been contacted and it was acceplance of the honesty of PG.
anticipated that this relative would be able w0
resolve the fssue, o that PG would dispose af it
It is reported that PG told stafl he had :.ln'.:pped it
in the sea,

S

Organisational-Management. & Institutional Context Factors
The value of Multi-agency working appears not to have been clear to the Carrick
Community Team.
The Carrick Community Team maintained a higher level of risk than ihe usual threshold,
1t appears thai the Inpatient units that provided care 1o PG had an expectation that the
Community Team would ensure the appropriate multi-agency working if this was thought
to be appropriate.

Implications and action points
There is a need for Cornwall Partnership Trust to promote, through training and its policy
framework, the need for the sharing of Risk across agencies.
Cornwall Partnership Trust needs to assist its clinical staff to understand their obligation to
public safety, and provide guidance as to how this is balanced with maintaining the
therapeutic relationship,
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Faken from :

CARE MANAGEMENT-PROBLEMS AND- CONTRIBUTORY-FACTORS FORM

A Protacal for the Analvsis of Clinical Incldenis September 1998

Care Management Problem

3. The "Extraordinary” patient

Clinieal Context and Patient Factors

The Exceptional approach to PG based on the rationale of maintaining a therapeutic relationship
lead to staff operating outside of normal working practice.

Contributory Factors

Specific

General

Work Environment
Examples of extrn=ordinary occurrences:
Ciwpynien Uinit: PG requested o side room and
when one could not be found he left the unil, A
transler 10 Harvest ward oceurred without being
“adimitted” 1o Gwaynlen
Hirvest: Spent a lot of time on the public phl;mr..
spending much more money than other service
users, vet stnfT tolernted this behaviaur although,
and outside of normal practice
Bowmnn: Was “allowed” 1o see his female friend
in his room although outside of normal practice,

ST IS ¥ S

Discharge of patients on Temporary
Tranaler from the west of the county from
Bodmin hospital units was unusual as people
are usually referred back o the host unit,

The discharge from Harvest without return
to the host unit was exceptional,

Team

Examples of extia-ordinary oceurrences:

Cartick Community Team:

1, Did not report risks to the police ns it was
thought this would damage the maintenance
of the therapeutic relationship.

2. ALPG's inslstence the CPN malntained
coilact mainly by telephone.

3,  When concerns were raised by the mild 1o
moderate CPM (5C) these were dismissed,

4. The option to seek n private psychothernpisi
occurred which resulted in a blurring off
boundaries.

Rationales for not using a section of the
Mental Health Act are linked to issues other
than risk such as the fact thm PG intended 1o
travel abroad that this would be put at risk,

The emphasis of maintaining confidentinlity
of PG's care seems to have excluded the
sharing of information regarding 1.G's care

Individual
Examples of extri-ordinary occurrences:
The Psychiatric Linison Nurse: Accompanicd PG
to hospital,

Bowmain Ward: Stalf (MA) deseribed being
lascinated by PG and reported spending a

disproportionate amount of time with him.
Carrick Community Team:

Despite exnmples of behaviour to the contrary
siadf presumed that PG would tell the iruth.
Although some stafl (AV) were aware of PG's

Staff objectivity appears to have been
impaired by PG's staius as a health
professional, wealih, charisma ond authority,
Stall ook hig word that he had disposed of
the firenrm

If the system did not meet PG (and LG's)
waiits they wouild geek a private option - this
proved disruptive 1o continuity and the
clarity of responsibility.

Private finance enabled the couple to move
around, which Blurred the continuity further.

| notential for dishonesty his version of the truth

Page 26 of 70




pulenlinl for dishonesty his version of the truth
wits accepted at the *discharge™ [fom caseload
mecting.

Task Carrick Community stafT relied on the fact
The focus of assessment and treatment appeared ME LT RPCUBE N M ek n peline Ol
secondary to maintaining  “therpeutic” and would resolve issues connected to lire
relationship, arms rather than following through ofTicial
channels,

Organisational-Management. & Institutional Context Factors

There was no overview of the whole ease where these "Extra-ordinary™ features were identified and
sliared between the care teams,

Implications and action points

I, Cornwall Partierahip Trust needs 1w inerease stalf awareness of the need to maintain
boundarles whilat balancing this with the Individual's rights,

2. Cornwall Parinership Trust needs to enable staff to adhere to policies, monitored by audii
and supported through supervision,

Page 27 of 70



Taken from : A Protocol for the Analysis of Clinical Incidents September 1999

CARE MANAGEMENT-PROBLEMS AND- ORY-FACTORS FORM

Clinical Context and Patient Factors

A Inck of clarity and misunderstanding of the role of Harvest Ward, Bodmin Hospital.
A lnck of clarity and misunderstanding of the role the Consultant Psyehiatrist for Harvest Ward
A luek of clarity and misunderstanding regarding the Criteria for a Forensic Assessment

Contributory Factors

Specific

General

Work Environment
As PG posed no risk on Harvest and wis informal
he was seen as low risk by the nursing stnff,

There was no scrutiny of the overall risk.

it hins remalied unelenr as 1o the total amount of
information Hirvest ward received regarding PG,

There is ambiguity regarding the rale of
Harvest, which has been seen throughout all
levels of the organisation.

The Forensic Community Team is a
cohesive team, separate from Harvest Ward,

The Forensic Community Team is able to
tnke direct referrals from the disirici
Community Mental Health Tenms and
Harvest,

Team
Harvest: Mursing Staff appeared ambivalent in
relation to thelr role. For example some
interviewed saw their role as a “specialist” service
in contrast 1o others, Others interviewed were
unclear if Harvest was g Psychiatric Intensive
Care Unit (PICLT) or a Forensic Lnii.
The Harvest Team did not nppenr to appreciate the
difficuliies posed to the communily team in
relation to risk, and their frame of reference did
nol embrace the ongeing management af risk in
the community.

Harvest was going through significant
chanpe in lerms of function and qudunhip,

Harvest calers for a wide range of patienis
{some detnined under 37/41 MHA ‘83, some
detained under nssessment and tremmen
orders of the MHA "83, and occasionally
informal patients) leading to an ambiguity of
the role provided.

Individual
One consultant (VB) had the expectation that
admission 1o Harvest would lead 1o a Forensic
Assessment.
As a result of his (NE) duel role as the Consultant
Psychiatrist for the Forensic Community services
and as Consultant with responsibility for patienis
on Harvest Ward it [s believed that when the
consultant passes an opinion it represents a
Forensic Assessment and carries a lot of weight.

Some staff reporied that there is difficuliy
comimunicating the Forensic and Harvest
role to the Trust.

Theie appears to be no clear-shared vision of
the current and future role of Harvest ward

in relition to the question of whether it is
Forensie or PICLL

The operational policy of Harvest does noi
identify it a8 a Forensic Unit,
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Task
The expert opinion of the Forensic Consultant is
heavily relied on within Comwall Partnership
Trust, The consequence of this appears to be that
once it was seen that PG was discharged from
Hirvest 1o the Community there was a perceplion
that the problem was less related to mental health
and therefore the on going role and
responsibilities of the mental henlth service was
limited. This influenced the discharge planning
and further involvement in contingeney planning.

The apparent illusiveness ol a shared view
across Cornwall Partnership Trust of the role
of Harvest ward and the Farensic team leads
1o raised r.-xpe:mu‘uns as to what Harvest
wird con provide,

It is nated that o Multi-Agency Public
Flanning (MAPP) meeting did not fake place
for PG

_hl.‘]rganiuatluuul-Managnment. & Institutional Context Factors
The “Forensic” view Is unchallenged nnd this Influences subsequent care.

Implications and action points

1. Cornwall Partnerahip Trust needs to develop a clear statement and policy framework
around the Forensic service and the role of Harvest Ward,

2. Cornwall Partnership Trust's adoption of the Department of Health's guidance on
Puychiatric Intensive Care Units (PICU) needs to be agreed and distributed seross the

CQrganisation,

3. Clarity needs to be provided on Cornwall Partnership Trust®s poliey for admission and

discharge 10 Horvest ward.

4. Cornwall Partnership Trust needs to ensure that there is a clear understanding of the use of
the Multi-Ageney Public Planning meeting (MAPP) process and incorporated in the policy

friimewaork,

Page 28 of 70



Taken from : A Protocol for the Analvsis of Clinical Incidents September 1999

CARE MANAGEMENT-PROBLEMS AND- CONTRIBUTORY-FACTORS FORM

Care Management Problem

5. Documentation

Clinieal Context and Patient Factors

'Ihmnlghuu: each slage of the care process the completion of documentation fell below that cxp:ctcd
by Cormwall Partnership Trust,

Contributory Factors
Specific General ——
Work Environment At various points in PG’s eare
- there were omissions related to:
At interview some staff deseribed tha the Core Assessment
presaures ol care provision prevented them rom | gisk Assessment
recarding appropriately, Risk Summary

) Critical Incident Form
Some risk assessments were incomplete and the Risk schedule

“Critical Incident Form™ was never utilised, Care Plans

Discharge summary

Discharge cheek list

Letlers

In addition there were incomplete and
undated entries in the unified clinical record,
and in ASW documentation in relation 1o the
MHA,

Team
Inpaticnt: It appears that different inpatient units | From the process ol intetviewing staff it is
have different recording processes and choose to | €lear that there is an inconsistent appronch to
focus on using different components of the care | record keeping within the mental health

co-ardination paperwork, service,
Individual .
‘ommunity Tenm: It appears that The records of LGs contact witl the mental

individual members of staff chose which parts of | health services are very brief and do not
the care co-ordination paperwork they would use. include care co-ordination documentation.

Task
The care and treatment of PG and nssessment and | 11 i5 reported that the Unified Records was
support to LG would have been enhanced by the rﬂ‘qlﬂ““"k‘ fotl M’"‘I'ﬂhlﬂ and ij“ﬂ"“““l‘
completion of the appropriate documentation. staff recorded on single sheets for inclusion
The compilation of the Unified Record varied in the file at n later stage. The system failed
acesrding 16 the care sefting (in some settings it is | and vital sheets are missing and not filed
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the ward clerk, in others the clinician}, There contemporaneously,
would nppear to be no systematic nppronch. This
has o bearing on what paperwork is Included In the
record.

There is a lack of clarity regarding the use of the
triplicate form completed when an ASW makes a
decision not to apply for an npplication under the
Mental Health Act 1983, This appears 1o result in
staff being uncledr of the reasons for the decision
aiid what setion should be taken.

Organisational-Management. & Institutional Context Factors

I, Comwall Partnership Trust provides n comprehensive tralnlng programme in relation to
the provision and documentation of eare using the care co-ordination process, however this
does not appear to result in a uniformed approach (o record keeping,

2, All‘.hdu;h there |s o clear expeciation ol the stundards of record k,i:cpinu_ within the mlicly
framework there is a gulf between policy and practice.

3. Mone of the inconsistencies between the standard of documentation and the existing policy
framework were highlighted through audit or records, use of records, or supervision.

4. Documentation Is key to recording and communicating essential information, the current
syatem licks robusiness.

Implications and action points

I, There is n need for Cornwall Partnership Trust 1o re-lssue guidance and the expectation of
the standard of record keeping in a way which promaotes a eulture of good record keeping,

2. There is a need for Cornwall Partmership Trust to ensure a rigorous audit programme of
clinfcal reeords,

3. There is a need for Cornwall Partnership Trust to focus attention on the recording of
information related to risk in line with the care co-ordination policy.

4, Cornwall Partnership Trust needs to review the robusiness of It current system lor
necessing nnd completing Unified Records,
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Taken from : A Protocol for the Analysis of Clinical ncidents September 1999

CARE MANAGEMENT-PROBLEMS AND- CONTRIBUTORY-FACTORS FORM

Care Management Problem

6. Accumulation of Risk

Clinical Context and Patient Factors

It appears that:

I There was no record that captured the overnll pattern of the care.

2. There was an inconsistent nppronch to risk documentation,

3. There was an absence of multi-agency planning — without which there was any eapture af
the accumulation of risk.

4. There was [ittle elarity as to the overnll co-ordination and eapturing of ench salient factor,

5

risk.

The impact of a very persuasive and confident service user led to an underestimation of

Contributory Factors

Specific

General

Work Environment
In all care settings it is reported that the pace of
work did not allow for adequate risk assessment,

The pace and nature of interventions were
dictated by the service user,

Team
: : Appear to have faken a4 Snajp
shot of visk at the time. There was a sense that
this was a community problem,

Harvest Ward: pressure on the ward round process
appears to hive led to rapid decision-making, It
remains unclear ns to how much information from
the community assessments had actually
m.‘:ﬂmpnniud the pn'lh.'l'u to enable the team to
make an informed decision, The care plan was
formulated on the presentation of PG ai the time
and did not capture the complexiiies of ihe
gituation in the community, or the accumulation of
the risk.

It Is unclear as to who was colleeting
information related 1o the whole picture of
P*Gis condition, and as o consequence no one
had collecied the totnl overview,

There appears (o be a gap between inpatient
anel community understanding, which
resitlied in the eare not being joined up.

The paperwork included in the care co-
ordination paperwark to record the total
presentation of risk over time, the critical
ingident form, was not used at any point in
PCs contact with the service.

Individual
Care co=ordinator; it appears that the allocation of
PO to a relatively inexperience member of the
team, not long returned 1o community mental
health nursing {AV) was inappropriate particularly
with the lack of structured supervision.

Mo one recognized ihe existence of the
Critical Incident Forim and the necd for i1s
completion.
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Task
The provision of safe care and treatment to PG There was not o system in place to ensure
would have been enhanced considerably with the [ that all the documentation went to the units
use of a Critical Incident Form and a nssessment [ 4t times of admisslon.

by the Forensie team,
Paperwork could not inform care planning

Records did not effectively follow the
patient

Organisational-Management. & Institutional Context Factors

A lack of elarity a3 16 who co-ordinates information on the inpatient units,
Organisational difficulty in the care co-ordinator having nccess to the record,
Lack of clarity regarding the Named Murse in the inpatient environment and thelr role,

fed bd —

Implications and action points

There is a need to review the Risk Assessment Documentation,

Training needs to be provided regarding relevant documents relating to risk and needs 1o

include; Discharge Planning, Risk Assessment, Critical Incldent Forim,

3. There is a need to [dentify a care co-ordinator on (e Inpatient environment (Named cose
co-ofdinator) for each adimisslon of a service user on the enhanced level of care co-
ordination.

4. The care process must include a review of care co-ordination on admission to hospital and

at time of discharpe.

L
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Taken from : A Protocol for the Analysis of Clinical Incidenis Sepiember 1999

CARE MANAGEMENT-PROBLEMS AND- CONTRIBUTORY-FACTORS FORM

Care Management Problem

7. Managing Personality Disorder

Clinical Context and Patient Factors
Cornwall Partmership Trust did not have a robust policy in place at the time w ensure a joined up
approach w the eare of the person with a personality disorder,
Difference in clinical opinions regarding diagnosis that impacts on clinieal management,

Contributory Factors

Speceific

General

Work Environment
It is reported that in all eare environments the pace
of the work did not allow time for adequate
reflection.

Team
There was a varintion in the farmulation and
dingnosis of PG"s condition:
Bowman Ward: niirse belief that PG way
depressad,
Giwaynten: wird nurse aware of depression,
Carrick Community Team: Did not involve
outside opinions such ns Clinical Nurse Specialist
in the care of people with personality disorder
{MH), or Forensie Psychelogist.
Did not request “Difficult to manage patient
meeting”
Did not request a8 MAPP meeting.

It would uppenr that as 4 consequence of the
uge of Unified Health Record, paperwork
could noi catch up with the speed of PG's
travel through the system.

The Care co-ordinator was based three miles
from the Consultant psychiatrist and
psychologist, which meant that the health
recard was not always available at the time it
wiis heeded,

At the time of adimissions the health record
would have been at the CMHT base (in
Truro) and at times of discharge lo the
Cummunily lenms the health record would
be at the hospital ward (on two ocensions
Bodmin).

The staff were unclear if there was a
protocol for working with people with a
personality disorder,

It appenrs that there was not an occasion
when all aspects of the case were brought
together,

Individual
Carrick Community Team;

Individunls managed a complex case in isolation,

The care co-ordinator, RMO and others took PG
view's nccount of his situntion as truthful,

No external objective opinion was sought
regarding the management of Personality
Disorder.
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No formal assessment for Personality Disorder
wiis requested or carried out.

Task
There is no evidence of a formal assessment or No clear guidelines were sought or followed,
tormulation of personality disorder.
There is no evidence of boundary selting,

Organisational-Management, & Institutional Context Factors
There appears to be an absence of Policy, specialist supervision and infrastruciure within Cormwnll
Partnership Trust in relation 1o the assessment and treatment of people with personality disorder.

Implications and action points

I, There is a need for Comwall Partnership Trust to draw together a Policy for the assessment
and treatment of people with personality disorder,

2, A training programme needs to be developed to enable elinical atafl to ndopt the poliey and
provide the most appropriate care for this group of service users,

3. Structured superviston provided by experts in this hield of work needs to be available to
clinical stalT involved in the care of service users with personality disorder,
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Taken from : A Proiocol for the Analvsis of Clinical licidenis Seprember 1999

CARE MANAGEMENT-PROBLEMS AND- CONTRIBUTORY-FACTORS FORM

Care Management Problem

8. Staff Supervision

Clinical Context and Patient Factors

The focus of clinical supervision and its relationship 1o the "Named Nurse” prineiple in hospital and
“care co-ordinater” n the community.

Cornwall Partnership Trust has in place a policy entitled *A Supervisee Led Approach to the
Supervision of Clinical Practice”, ratified in February 2003, which provides policy guldance to all
professional groups.

Contributory Factors

Specific o General
Work Environment
Inpatient Units: It is suggested that the work Mo stafl interviewed made reference 1o the
pressures on nursing staff on the inpatient units content of the Trust policy on supervision
does not enable o planned and effective structure | 4nd the Tramework for clinical supervision
fbr clinlcnl siperyision. that it advocates.

ity Tenim: It is suggested thit the

culmmmity staff felt more enabled to commil 1o
the ¢linical supervision process,

Team
Inpatient Units: It appears that there is n general | There was a general lack of awareness of the
lack of clurity regarding supervision supervision policy and the standards
ATTANEEmMEnts, connected with supervision.

The providers of supervision varled on difTereni _
units, as did the process for recording supervision, | It remained unclear as to what percentage of
its duration and frequency. clinical tenms had undertaken the two-day

formal training programme described In the
Carrick Community Team: — There was a clearer policy, and how the follow up refresher
process in place for supervision, however notall | raining was to be organized.

staff recelved superviston on a regular basis,

Individual
Ciwavnten Unit One member of nursing stafT The commitment 1o supervision seemed 1o
ilentified that regular supervision had not been | Y4r¥ according “? professional group. The
reality; however the manager interviewed consultant psychintrists interviewed
described how well the supervision process suggested that peer supervision existed for
worked and provided assurance that all staff them, The psychologist interviewed engnged
received supervision, in a structured approach to supervision.

It did seem, however, that a supervision

Carrick Community Team: The supervision relationship existed between the care co-

arrangement for the care co-ordinator appeared ordinator and the psychologist,
irregular and incongistent. The approach to The supervision arrangements for the

=
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supervision appeared to lnck clarity and focus, nuraing and ASW siaff were variable.

The supervision arrangements did not match the

complexity of the case of PG, nor bring in to focus | €linical supervision to positively impact on
the needs of LG the care of bath PG and LG

Task

An opportunity was missed for well focused

Organisational-Management. & Institutional Context Factors

Cornwall Partnership Trust has in place a policy on supervision of clinical practice,
however staff had o varying understanding of the policy and its expectation of siaff.

The attendance at training events on this theme may have been affected by the Cornwall
Partnership Trust’s decislon n the last vear to focus tralning in the mental health service
on manclatory tralning only.

It is noted that the supervision of clinical practice policy provides guidelines from
professionil bodies for all professional groups employved by Cormwall Partnership Trust
with the exception of psychintrists, and managers. [t is antielpated that as the Trust is now
an integrated organization it will Incorporate standards for Approved Social Workers

Implications and action points

Ensure that staff are aware of the svatem that Is in place for the tralning of Cormwall
Fartnership Trust staff in clinleal supervision and the supervision of clinigal praclice
policy, and are encouraged o attend by their line managers.

Enzure that there is a process in place to audit the practice and process of supervision,
The policy has an aspiration that “In the future all job descriptions will reflect
arganisational, managerial and individual practitioners responses to clinical supervision”,
this work needs to continue,
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Taken from : A Protocol for the Analysis of Clinical Incidents Septenmber 1999

CARE MANAGEMENT-PROBLEMS AND- CONTRIBUTORY-FACTORS FORM

Care Management Problem

9. Staff Organisation, Leadership and Management,

Clinieal Context and Patient Factors

The orgamsation of the stafT invelved in the care of PG lacked the benelli of direction and

leadership,

This was identified as being most noticeable in relation 1o:
I. the process of care co-ordination in the community

ha

the role and function of the care co-ordinntor

3. the role function and practice of the Proctice Care Manager

4, the role, function and practice of the Named Nurse in the inpatient seiting.

5. i the sharing of information regarding the care of LG and PG

Contributory Factors

Specific

General

Work Environment
It would appear that the demands on the time of
key stafl members out stripped their copacity to
effectively complete all the duties being nsked of
them,

Team

The Carrick CMET management structure

appeared loose, which left individual practitioners
practicing in an autonomous fushion outside of the
policy framework, The management structure
religd on the Practice Care Manager to act
appropriately in relation (o presenting risks and 1o
miake the decision when to linise with the
Community Team Manager on such issues. Due
o changes in the manngement of ihe Community
Team (G lelt the role and LW ook this role
Over) there seeimed to be a lack of awareness of
the tensions that existed within the CMH'T at the
Threemilesione base, which may have impeded
the simooth sharing of information and
professional opinion,

In the Inpatient Linits: There was a lack off
clarity regording the role of the Named

MNurse, particilarly in relation o care co-
ardination.

There was 1o consistency in the process tha
would identify and allocate o named nurse,
The role of the named nurse in relation 1o
discharge planning and ward rounds
appeared inconsistent.

[ | ¢
-Co-ordination: There appeared 1o
be o lnck of everview of the process,
Although VT reports having audited the
records of PG and arranged local training an
care-co-ordination documentation there is no
evidence thai this had a positive effect.
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lasues with the ¢o-location of the Mild 1o
Moderate (C2) stall and the severe and enduring
gtafl o Threamilestone: Whilst this co-location
eaused coneern 1o the Review Panel in terms of
the maintenance of confidentiality, it did ennble an
informal sharing of concerns regarding LG,
Although there was no formal response to the
concerns raised by the C2 G grade nurse (5C) ahe
wis able 1o make her concerns known.

Although care was being provided 1w LG
and PG by the same orgatization the
managemerl structure did not ensure the
sharing of information regarding both
parties. LG was not jdentificd ns being o
carer in need of o carer’s assessment by the
Mental Health service, or as o vilnerible
adult.

Individual
Within the Carrick CMHT The care co-ordinator
{AV) was working in isolation without the benefit
of a management overview, which may have lead
her to believe that the appropriate managerial
direction i the ease of PG would conie from the
RMCL,

The RMO (KW) wag also in the position of
change in working role,

One stalT member (5C) who had concerns
regarding the risks 1o LG was unable to convince
her cﬂllung_m.'s of the authenticity of her concerns,
Access to managers senior fo the Practice Core
Manager nppenred nat o be part of the eam
culture, nor to raise professional coneerns with the
profeasional head of nursing, or to look at the
policy ramework to overcome o dilTerence ol
apiiion in the eam.

There appeared to be no managerinl
overview of the inpatient and community
core of PG,

The n.-s.-mrnpliﬂn wis made that all Invalved
were working appropriately, without
mechanisms being in place to test our, from
time to time, if ihis was the case or not.

Task
The lack of elarity of the role of the named nurse
led to a vacuum of information collection and
sharing in the inpatient environment,
The lnck of first line manogerinl direction in the

community lead to nutonomous practice ouiside of

the policy framework,

Communication between all involved in the
care of PG and LG was not promoted by the
organisation and manngement of the
inpaticnt and community struciire,

Clrganixutiunnl-ﬁﬂnnuumunt. & Institutional Context Factors

Corpwall Partnership Trust's Manngement structure In terims of the Ward Managers and
Community Team Managers appeared unaware of the complexities of PG case, and consequently

were unabie 1o provide guidance and direction.

Implications and action points

I, The role of the inpatient Named Nurse requires clarification, and consistent application of
practice across the arganization, ndopting the pringiples ol care co-ordination.

2. The Care Programme Approach through Care Co-ordination necds to be rigorous|y
managed. The Trust may wish to change the name of the process back to CPA 10 ensure

its {ocus of o care process i muintained.
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Taken from A Protocol for the Analvsis of Clinical Incidents September 1999

CARE MANAGEMENT-PROBLEMS AND- CONTRIBUTORY-FACTORS FORM

Care Management Problem

10. Training

Clinical Context and Patient Factors

The policy framework of Cornwall Partnership Trust sets out an expectation that stafT will attend
certain training, The Trust has identified some training as mandatory. Evidence would suggest that
mandalory training is perceived as;

Henlth & Safety

Brenkaway (Lone worker safely)

Control and Restraint (Therapeutic Management of Aggression)

First Aid

Food Hyglene

Mm-im_.-. and Handling

Fire

Tlu'c review has particularly focused on training related to care co-ordination and risk management,
and has identified that difficulties related o the stiendance shaving, and Implementation of' the
leamning are contributory factors in relation to the care of PG

N e

Cornwall Partisership Trust has in place a rigorous training programme entitled *Care Co-ordinntion
Cormwall Joint Agencies Training Initiative (Mental Health)", This programme, outlined below
with the details of the course capacity and frequency for 2004, consists of a range of study events
central to care co-ordination nnd risk assessment,

Title Duration | Places | Annual Total
Freqguency Aniniinl
. | _Capacity
L Basle Clinieal Risk Assessiment and Managemant in I iy 20740 14 120 ”
Merntal Healih for Menial Healib
Warkora/Professional e
2 Clinical Risk Assesament and Risk Management in | oy | & Td 3
Mental Health = Fallew-up and Developmeni
Teaining
1, Mecds-led Assessment and Care Flanning = An 1 day as i -
Huilksiie .ﬁﬂwr"uu.h
4 Crisls angd Conlingenay Plnnnlnu Developing the | day 20 k) i)
Care Cosordinntion Care Flan
5, The Raloof the £ ane Co-ordinntor | day 20 3 |
. Embracing the Principles and Proctice of Engaging | day 23030 i
will Carers nnd Asseaing Corers Newds
7 ":Injln Paiiil of Access ~ “Cietting it Right a1 the | day 23 3 74
s ont
Diversity and Discrimination in Mental Health 1 day 23 2 50
Pructice = Rights and Responsibilities

It is noted that the course material of the “Basic Clinical Risk” identifies this study day as
mindatory but it does not appear on the Trust's mandatory training list. This study day provides
stalT with a comprehensive averview on the following themes:

1. Be familiar with local risk policies in elinical risk /risk management in mental health.
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2, Be more confident and knowledgeable In negotiating with colleagues, service users and
carers in pursuing effective risk assessments,

3. Construct elfective written care plang outlining risk issues and negotiating positive service
user focused risk options,

4, Meel the requirements of the NSF for risk assessment and management and the capable
practitioner for ethical practice and the process of cure,

Theoretically this one day course would have been sufficient to cover the key eare co-
ordination and risk assessmeni nspecis of the care of PG and LG,

Contributory Factors

Specifie General

Work Environment
Inpatient Unit stafT (dentified the difficulty that for | Al cl!nlr:nl !II!I'HTIIII:.II'. were nsked for an
stafT 1o attend training replacement staff need to overview of the training they had nttended in

be provided and that the cost of drafting in relation to these two themes identifed that
replacement staff made managers enutious at the demands on thelr time deterred them
sending stofl on teaining; this is particularly from attending training.

televant in relation 1o staying within budget and
contributing to the financinl recovery programme.
The Trust had announced last year that only
mandatory training could be supported.

Community stalf Identified that there were no

covering arrangemenis when they atiended
tenning other than their colleagues covering their
workload, and that in busy tenms this affected
their deeisions to apply for training out of concern
for service user care and their collengues

worklond,
Team
Inpaiient Units: Uptake on risk and care- All weams report o similar situation,
coordination training limited within all the On the Bodmin hospital site an initiative has
inpatient units, been introduced by the on site managers to
Community Teams: Within the nursing elemenis | have training provided locally to reduce the
ol the teams training uptake is reported to be need for staff to be away from the work
better. However no refresher training in risk place for long periods, There is no evidence
assessment hos been offered, to suggest that this has improved ihe uptake
of training.
Individual

S'H[E S'Em “ﬂpﬂﬂﬂd to hiave attended care CI.II‘\"'EI“I.}' there is not a relinble central
co-ordination and risk assessment training and had | database of mandatory, care-co ordination or

applied for care co-ordination training. risk nssessment training that can be easily
Praciice Care Manager: Reported to have attended | nccessed,
care co-ordination and risk assessment training, | At the annual appraisal there is an

apportuiity ot stall (non medical) 1o record
their training attended in the last year and
identify trnining needs for the next vear. In
theory this is the opportunity for line
managers 1o be aware of the training needs
of their staff and how these nre met, There is
no centril process for managers to identify
the up take of and atendance ot training,

Task
There is no evidence that staff identified that they | The majority of the stafl involved in the
had received insufficient training to meet the treatment and care of PG (and LG) had not

Page 41 of 70



feads of PG (or LG). beer prepared for their roles in relation to
cure eo-ord ination and risk aszessment
through training. This also applies to other
areas of care such ns: discharge planning,
vulnerable adult protection, caring for
people with o personality disorder and ihe
role of the named nurse.

Organisationnl-Management, & Institutional Context Factors

. Although comprehensive lists of staff thot have attended training are now kept, Cornwall
Partnership Trust does not appenr 1o have o centralised process for capturing the training
needs of stafl, particularly in the arens of care eo-ordinalion and risk assessment, ensuring
that courses are altended and monitoring that training needs have been met, It is
understaad that this is being addressed,

2, There is some ambiguity us to what training is mandatory,

3. Mannagers do not have an ideniified training budget.

4. Managers have been concerned at relensing staff for training because of the impact on their
budgets.

lllmphldicaliuns and action points

I, There is n need for Cornwall Parinership Trust to have a elear and definitive list of the
training eourses thai are mandatory for each employee to attend. This process would be
best nuppﬂm:d I:y i syatem, which can pruuide an overview, by clinical aren, of staff that
has attended training.

2, Cormwall Partnership Trust needs to ensure thar there is o clear process in place for the
identification of learning needs in relation to all the key aspects of care provision for
service users, and that the meeting of these needs is audited and reviewed by managers,

i, Cornwall Partnership Trust need o ensure thal where ever possible training is provided
elose 1o clinieal areas o that elineal stafl does not need to be away rom their workplace
lor long perlods.

4, A network of champions needs 1o be created on the theme of eare co-ordination and risk
assessment that can provide cascade training and mentorship in the workplace,

5, The provision of a training budget for munagers may help the promotion of a planned
approach to teaining.

6. Cornwall Partnership Trusts needs to ensure that operational budgets reflect the reality that
staff will need to be released for training and in certain clinical areas and circumsiances
replacement stalf will be required.

|
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DENTIFIE ARE N S
RECOMMENDATIONS

The Internal Review Panel has conducted 113 Review in accordance with the Terms ol Reference set out ot
Appendix A.

The Internal Review Panel identifled ten Care Management Problems.

The Internal Review Panel concludes that although omissions in practice led to the occurrence of the Care
Management Problems there was no neglect of duty of care

The Internal Review Panel suggests that if all the arcas of care had been provided without omissions the
tragie ineidents of suicide and homicide may still have occurred,

The Internal Review Panel makes the following Recommendations:
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Care Muﬁgr:m:m Praoblems Implieations and Action Points for
Cornwall Partnership NHS Trust

1. The varinble understanding, 1. Stream line and simplify policies, providing
implementation and adherence to paolicies, accessible documents that provide the essential
amount of information to all staff to ensure
pand, safe, elinical eare,

2. Identify and prepare a tier of key staff (for
example the Practice Care Managers) o
understand the detail of the policy and who can
cascade elearly their understanding of the
policy, and who can be expected to be the local

policy expert,

3. Further develop a training process (o ensure
that stafT are aware of the policy lramework
and the key content of the policies.

4. Ensure that in the working lives of elinieal
staft there is an opportunity for the assimilation
of policy content.

5. Through audit and review, ensure that staff
have the understanding and knowledge of
palicies and their application necessary for sale
practice, and that such review becomes an
ongoing part of Continuing Professional
Development and Supervision,

||||||

2. The lack of mulii-agency working 6. Promote, through training and iis policy
framework, the need for the sharing of Risk
ACTOSS agencies,

7. Assist its clinical stall 1o understand their
obligation 1o public safety, and provide
guidance as 1o how this is balanced with
maintaining the therapeutic relationship,

3. The "Extraordinary” patient 8. Increase stalT awareness of the need to
maintain boundaries whilst balancing this with
the individual's rights,

9, Enable staff 1o adhere to policies, monitored
by audit and supported through supervision,

4. Perception of the Forensic Serviee 10. Develop a clear statement and policy
framework around the Forensic service and the |
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role of Harvest Ward.

11, Adoption of the Department of Health's
guidance on Psychiatric Intensive Care Units
(PICU) needs 1o be ngreed and distributed
across the Organisation.

12. Provide clarity regarding the poliey for
admission and discharge to Harvest ward.

13, Ensure that there is a clear understanding of
the use of the Multi-Agency Public Planning
meeting (MAPP) process and its incorporation
in the policy framework,

5, Documentation 14, Re-issue puidance and the expectation of
the standard of record keeping in a way which
promotes a culture of good record keeping.

15, Ensure a rigorous audit programme of
clinical records.

16, Focus attention on the recording of
information related to risk in line with the care
co=ordination policy,

17, Review the robustness of its current system
for accessing and completing Unified Reeords,

"6, Accumulation of Risk 18, Review the RIsk Assessment
Documentation,

19. Provide training regarding relevant
documents relating to risk and needs to inelude:
Dnscharge Planning, Risk Assessment, Critical
Incident Form.

20. Identify a care co-ordinator on the inpatient
environment (Named case co-ordinator) for
cach admission of a service user on the
enhanced level of care co-ordination.

21. Ensure that the care process includes a
review of care co—ordination on admission (o
hospital and at time of discharge.

7. Managing Personality Disorder 22, Draw together a Policy for the assessment
and treatment of people with personality
disorder.
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23. Develop a training programme Lo enable
clinical staff to adopt the policy and provide
the most appropriate care for this group of
SErvice users.

24, Provide structured supervision by experts in
this field of work, to be available to clinical
staff involved in the care of service users with
personality disorder,

8. Staff Supervision 25, Ensure that staff are aware of the syalem
that is in place for the training of Cornwall
Partnership Trust staff in clinical supervision
and the supervision of clinical practice policy,
and are encouraged 16 atiend by their line
managers,

26. Ensure that there is a process in place to
audit the practice and process of supervision,

27. Ensure the work continues to [ulfill policy
aspiration that “In the future all job
descriptions will reflect organisational,
managerial and individual practitioners
responses Lo elinical supervision™,

9. StalT Organisation, leadership and 28. Clarify the role of the inpatient Named

management Nurse requires clarification, and ensure
conalstent application of practice across the
organisation, adopiing the principles of care co-
ordination.

29, Ensure rigorous management of the Care
Programme Approach through Care Co-
ordination. Consider changing the name of the
process back to CPA to ensure its focus of
care process is maintained.

10. Training 30, To have a clear and definitive list of the
training courses that are mandatory for each
employee to attend, This process would be best
supported by a system, which can provide an
overview, by clinical area, of stall that has
attended training.

31. Ensure that there is a clear process in place
for the identification of learning needs in
relation to all the key aspects of care provision
for service users, and that the meeting of these
needs is nudited and reviewed by managers.
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32. Ensure that where ever possible training is
provided close to clinical areas so that clinical
staft do not need to be away from their
workplace for long periods.

33, Create a network of champions on the
theme of care co-ordination and risk
assessment that can provide cascade training
and mentorship in the workplace,

34. Conslder creating the provision of a training
budget for managers that may help the
promotion of a planned approach to training.

35, Create operational budgets to reflect the
reality that staff will need to be releascd for
training and in certain clinical naress and
circumstances  replacement  stafl’  will  be
required.
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APPENDIX A

T'ERMS OF REFERENCE

The terms of reference for this investigation were set out in the letter of 18, June 03 to the Panel
Members. which stated:

The Terms of Reference for the internal review are as follows;

ll

-

With reference to the serious untoward incident that occurred on the 21 May 2003, to examine the
circumstances of the trestment and care of Mr PG by the Mental Health Services, in particular

(a) The quality and scope of the health care and risk assessment.

(b) The appropriateness ol Mr PG's treatment, care and supervision in respect of any of the
following that are relevant:

{n His nssessed health care and social care necds;

{4} His assessed risk of potential harm to himsell or others;

(3) Any previous psychiatric history, including drug and alcohol abuse;
(4 Number and nature of any previous court conviction

(¢) Statutory obligations; national guidance (including the Care Programme Approach, SG
(90) 23/LASSL (20) 11); Discharge Guidance H5G (94) 27; Mental Health Act 1983 and code of
practice ns well as any local operational policies for the provision and support of mental health
services,

(d) The extent to which Mr PG's preseribed treatment and care plans were:

(13 Daocumented;

(2) Apreed with him;

(3 Cominunicated with and between relevant agencies and his family:
(4 Delivered;

(5) Complied with by Mr PG and assisted by his carer,

To examine the appropriateness of the training and development of those involved in the care of
Mr PG

To examine the adequacy of the collaboration and communication between Health, Social
Services and any other agencies, which were, or might appropriately have been, involved in the
care of Mr PG.

To review the implementation of the serious untoward incident process in response (o the
incident.

To prepare a report and make recommendations as appropriate to the Comwall Partnership Trusi
Senior Management Team and Board.
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APPENDIX B

i DURE

Introduction
l. All hearings of the Review will be held in privaie.
2. The Review hearings will be conducted as informally as possible. The evidence
will be led by the most appropriate professional 1o take that role, as deemed by the Review Panel,
to ensure that the views of all those participating in the review process are properly and fully
canvassed in evidence.
B Factual evidence will be sought from those working within the Services involved
with PG at the relevant time.
4. Advice may be sought from relevant experts on practice issues.
Oral Evidence
5 Each foctual witness will receive letters informing them of]
The terms of reference and the procedure adopted by the Review.
The proposed timetable for the Review.,
The method of accessing records relevant 1o their own role in the care of PG for the limited
purpose of responding to the Review.
6. Witnesses attending in person o provide evidence may raise any matier they
feel might be relevant to the Review.
it Witnesses may bring with them, al their own personal cost, a lawyer or a
member of the Defence Organisation, friend, relative, colleague or member of 4
Trades Union, provided that no such person is also a wilness to the Review: it 13
the invited witness that will be expected 1o answer questions,
8, All evidence will be recorded and a transeript sent to the relevant withess o check for accuraey,

Publication of R

9,

10.

Findings of Fact will be made on the basis of the evidence received by the
Review, Comments that appear within the narrative of the Report, and any recommendations,
will be based on those findings.

The findings and any recommendations of the Review will be presented ina

report and submitted to the Chief Executive and the Board of Cornwall Partnership NHS Trust as
commissioned.
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These interviews are detailed below, The venue abbreviations relate to;

STAFF INTERVIEWED

In the process of this Internol Review the panel interviewed 27 staft and held a total of 32 interviews.

Pydar St = Carrick CMHT Base, 57 Pydar Street, Truro,
St Aub V = Training Centre, St Aubyn Villa, Bodmin Hospital,
Bell Hse = The “small meeting room”, Bellingham House, Bodmin Hospital.

MName Role Date Venue Mumiber
of times
Seen
Amber Vitae CPN Care Co-ordinator 03 Jul 03 Pydar St | 2
20 Aug 03 | St Aub VY
Val Taylor Practice Care Manager 03 Jul 03 Pydarst |2
=0 Aug 03 | Bell Hse
Bob Tavlor Psychiatric Liaison Murse | 03 Jul 03 Pydar 5t | |
Nigel Eastwood Consultant Psychiatrist 08 Jul 03 Pydar 5t |2
27 Aug 03 | St AubV
lan Matthews ASW 08 Jul 03 Pydar 5t | |
Vicky Bridges Consultant Psychiatrist 08 Jul 03 Pydar St | |
Ken Wood Consultant Psychiatrist 08 Jul 03 PydarsSt ||
RMO
Dave Oxford Pyyehologial 08 lul 03 Pydar 51 |
Dave Willmot ASW 15 Jul 03 Pydar 5t | |
Larraine Warne Team Manager 15 Jul 03 Pydar 51 | 2
Carrick CMHT 29 Aug 03 | 5t Aub V
Maggie Atherton Staff Nurse 15 Jul 03 Pydar St |1
Bowman Ward
Shelly Eveleigh Ward Manager 15 Jul 03 Pydar 5t | |
Harvest Ward
Sarah Gabert Joint Lead Officer 20 Aug 03 | Bell Hse | 2
Care Co-ordination 26 Aug 03 | Bell Hse
Andy Martin Deputy Team Leader 26 Aug 03 [ Bell Hse | |
= Harvest Ward
Dawn Spry Team Leader 27 Aug 03 | St AubY |1
Forensic Community
Services
Noreen Lockwood StafT Murse 27 Aug 03 | B1AubY |1
= Harvest Ward
Barry O"Muirithe stafT Grade Psychiatrist 27 Aug03 [StAubV ||
Katherine Thomas Staff Murse 28 Aug 03 | Bell Hse | |
Harvest Ward
Shonagh Trudgeon Stall Nurse 28 Aug 03 | Bell Hse | |
Gwaynten
Tunia Killen Staff Murse 28 Aug 03 | Bell Hae | 1
Bawman Ward
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Name Role Date Venue Number
of times
Seen
Edward Chambers Ward Manager 28 Aug 03 | Bell Hse |
Bowman Ward
Martin Faulkner General Practitioner 28 Aug 03 | Bell Hse | |
Lynn Verran Ward Manager Gwaynten | 29 Aug03 | StAubV | |
(Mow Longreach House)
Gerry Cantwell Community Team Leader | 29 Aug 03 | StAubY | |
Carrick CMHT
(now project manager)
Sharon Collier G grade CPN 29 Aug03 | StAuwbV ||
Mild to Moderate Service
Carrick CMHT
Mark Young Mental Health Act Advisor | 12Sep 03 | StAubY | |
Lindsay Parkyn Nurse Consultant 12Sep03 [ StAubV |1
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5UI INFORMATION SHEET

Today's Date: 27" May 2003

SUI Ref No. 01503

Name: PETER GRANT
DaB (if known); 16,03.52
Occupation: Retired Dentist
(Mirst be completed)
Stalt or Patient: Discharge client = April 2003
 Disirict: Carrick
RMO: L, Ken Wood
Dngnoals Unelear, Unable wo identify dingnosis from notes,
iMust be completed)
When last seet; 1™ April, 2003
CPM/Key Worker: AY, CPN
Care Plan — Enhanced or Standard: Discharged, previously enhanced
Informal/Sectioned: informal
Dute of incident 21.05.03
Who informed of incident Team information obtained via moedia/press
Whaon Informed 23.05.03
AJT form completed Yos
SUI form complete Yes

Additionnl Information;

Mrs, L. Grant, estranged wife of Mr. P, Grant was found dead at her home in London on 20" May 2003, Cause of death
= strangulation, Police invesiigation alleges deaths 1o be linked, No other suspects involved.
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APPENDIX E

Cornwall Partnership NHS

NHS Trust

REPORT INTO SERIOUS UNTOWARD INCIDENT
015-03

NAME: PETER GRANT

D.0O.B. 16.3.52.

TEAM: FORMERLY CLIENT OF
CARRICK CMHT

RMO: KW

CARE CO-ORDINATOR: AV

CPA: ENHANCED LEVEL OF CARE CO-

ORDINATION. DISCHARGED AT TIME
OF INCIDENT

LEGAL STATUS: INFORMAL

FPage 61 of 70



INTRODRUCTION

On the 23 May 2003 it came to light that Mr Peter Grant had been found dead at his property.
Prior to this his wife had been found strangled in London. Mr Grant had been a client of the
Carrick CMHT and had recently used inpatient services at Harvest Ward and Bowman ward,
Bodmin Hospital and the Gwaynten Unit. Mrs Lynn Grant (wife) was referred to 27 Lemon
Street Counselling Service on the 23 December 2002, She was seen for four sessions of
counselling and discharged on 10 February 2003. This was in relation to the break up of her
marriage and the threats her former husband had been making in relation to his own suicide,

MR GRANT'S MENTAL HEALTH HISTORY WITH CORNWALL PARTNERSHIP
TRUST

Mr Grant was first referred to Cornwall Parinership Trust Mental Health Services on 22
MNovember 2002, This took the form of an informal admission to Bowman Ward (Bodmin
Hospital). This was preceded by two overdoses on the 19 and 20 November 2002 following the
breakdown of his marriage. Mr Grant was discharged on the 25 November 2002 with a
dingnosis of Adjustment Disorder. Mr Gram was seen on the 29 November 2002 by AV
following his discharge.

He was contacted again by telephone on the 2 December 2002 and again on the 4 December
2002 followed by a home visit on the 5 December 2002, There were numerous and regular
contacts made with him up until 21 December 2002 when he was informally admitted 1o
Gwaynten Unit.  This was again triggered by an overdose and verbalised intentions to harm
himself by shooting, He is also reported to have driven his tractor into the kitchen with the
intention of poisoning himself on the fumes and driving his motorcar at speed. It is also reported
that he consumed large amounts ol alcohol at times and made threats involving firearms.

A recommendation for detention under Section 2 of the Mental Health Act was made by Dr
Wood during this admission but was not converted into a formal detention. Mr Grant was visited
by his GP Dr Faulkner and his wife on the same day (23 December 2002). Dr Faulkner felt
unahble o support the application on nssessment and Mr Grant took his discharge against medical
advice Tollowing a full risk assessment and the development of a community support package.
Mr Grant continued to be followed up by his CPN (AV).

On the 7 January 2003 Mr Grant’s case was discussed with the Clinical Psychologist, Mr DO.
He was asked to assess his suitability for psychological therapy. DO referred Mr Grant on to Mr
Mike Watson (Consultant Psychotherapist). Mr Mike Watson produced a report following the
referral detailing Mr Grant's past. Unfortunately the full assessment was unable to be completed
as Mr Grant left following the second session and said this was because he wanted to be near his
wife. Mr Watson highlights risk both in relation to Mr Grant’s suicidal ideation but also towards
his wife and felt that both risks were of equal significance.

On the 14 February 2003 a further inpaticnt admission was recommended. He atiended the
Gwaynten Unit at approximately 20.00 hours requesting a single room and stated that he would
be willing to pay for this, Mr Granl was asked to wail at the Gwaynten Unit until the Senior
House Officer could see him. He declined to do so but was later admitted to Harvest ward from
the Police Custody Centre at Newquuay., He had been arrested for the possession of a firearm.
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Again a Section 2 MHA Assessment was undertaken however Mr Grant was admitted
informally. It is reported that Mr Grant had agreed to admission to Harvest Ward informally.

Mr lan Matthews — Approved Social Worker, Carrick CMHT — in an assessment undertaken at
this time states that

“Mr Grant is an ex Dentist who had made a fortune from property development. He
informs us that he had read lots of books nbout depression. He did not present as being
mentally ill or depressed and tried to make out the whaole incident was due to his mother-
in-law’s fabrication....” “However, both Dr Bridges and 1 agreed that it was appropriate
to detain Mr Grant under Section 2 MHA because we felt that a full assessment in
hospital was needed for the following reasons,

I He may possibly have a treatable depression masked by anger.

2 He may have a psychopathic disorder including morbid jealousy, which could
place his wife in danger.

3 He is impulsive.

A He has made five previous attempts/gestures of self-harm some of which were
melodramatic but nevertheless placed him al risk.

5 He may need a forensic assessment,”

Mr Matthews goes on to say that he and Dr Meijer (Police Surgeon) returned to speak to Mr
Grant who assured them that rather than be sectioned under the Mental Health Act he would
accept an informal admission and co-operate with any medical advice. Mr Matthews says that it
was a difficult decision to make but that he and Dr Meijer decided, “we lacked strong enough
grounds to say that Mr Grant’s agreement was not reliable™,

On the 17 February 2003 Mr Grant was discharged from Harvest Ward to home and was
followed up against by AV, Whilst at Harvest Ward, Dr Eastwood states:

1 My own view is that the patient is not showing signs of mood disorder or any
psychosis,

2 Personality traits include over controlling,

3 Mot detainable under Mental Health Act, does not require hospital treatment.

He goes on to say that his wife is aware of risks and that Police need to be involved if she is
concerned. AV followed Mr Grant up following discharge from Harvest Ward on 17 February
2003 once again.

It is reported that he had planned to go to New Zealand on the 22 February 2003, Mr Grant's
wife asking that they undergo o further period of six months separation triggered this.
Subsequently however he decided not to go.

On the 11 March 2003 a Multi-Disciplinary risk meeting took place in relation to Mr Grant's

ongoing treatment, At this meeting it was stated that Mr Grant had found n therapist in whom he
had great faith. This lady (Annetie Montague-Thomas) was providing marital guidance for Mr
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Grant. It appeared at this time that Mr Grant was making plans for the future, At this meeting it
is stated that Mr Grant’s mental health was more stable and he was not clinically depressed. He
had abstained from alcohol for over three weeks and felt that he was through the worst of this
crisis and was moving on. [t is reported that Mr Grant had agreed with the team that his
commitment 1o his new Therapist made the CMHT s role redundant at that particular time and he
was happy to be discharged back to the care of his General Practitioner.

N G REP ED INCIDENT

Lorraine Warne sent immediate notification form to Rosemarie Lane on the 23 May 2003,
Immediate support was offered to the CPN involved in Mr Grant's care (AV) by Lorraine. Other
stalT involved and informed at this particular ime were KW and his secretary Elaine Dell, NE
and the Forensic Team, The Practice Care Manager, VT, was advised of the events, Dr Vicky
Bridges and [an Matthews were informed, as were the inpatient teams at Harvest and Gwaynten
Wards. Dr Faulkner (GP) was also made aware (via message as he was on leave) and Sharon
Collier was advised due to the fact that she had been seeing Mrs Lynn Grant. The private
Therapist (Annette Montague-Thomas) was advised on the 27 May 2003. Dr Frieder Lehman-
Waldau (Duty Consultant) was also made aware of events. Mr David McAuley (Clinical
Manager) verbally notified the Chiel’ Executive’s Office immediately on the 23 May 2003 and
asked that the General Manager also be made aware.

A Learning from Experience mecting has been arranged for Tueday 3 June 2003,

EC E @]
I That an Investigating Officer be appointed,
2 That a Facilitator be sought in relation to Learning from Experience meeting on Tuesday
3 June 2003.
3 Ongoing support needs for staff involved in Mr and Mrs Grant’s treatment be ongoingly

reviewed. | would suggest that it is important to be mindful of the fact that this may be a
particularly traumatic time for those that have been involved in both the care of Mr &
Mrs Grant.

1 That the Trust review as part of the learning from this incident, discharge and service
entry criteria.

David McAuley
Clinical Manager
28 May 2003
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APPENDIX F

LEARNING FROM EXPERIENCE MEETING

3 JUNE 2003

SuUl 015-03

Mr PETER GRANT
BLACKBERRY FARM
FEOCK
TRURO
CORNWALL.,
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In Attendance:

D Vicky Bridges - Consultant in Paychiatry of Old Age
Lorralne Warne - CMHTL

VT =PCM

AV = CPN

Dave Dxford = Paychologlst

Dr K Wood = Consultant Psychiairisi

Elaine Diell = Medical Secretary

Dr Sal Waong - SHO

Sharon Collier = CPN

Apologles:

lan Maithews — ASW

Dir Marilyn Mirehell = Consultant Paychiatrist
Dr W Eastwood - Consultant Psyehiatrist
Ciwayniten

Hurvest Ward

Dr Falkner

Private Thernpist Annetie Montague Thomas
Dave McAuley

The meeting takes the form of background information. Evenis of Concern and What Learnt,

KW supplied background information, M Geant was a 50-year-old man who [irst came to psychiairic nitention i
Movember 2002 when he presented on the sdvice of his brother n-liw to Treliske. He had been feeling maudiin,
drinking to excess and thinking of suicide. He had been toying with o verey pistol (yacht pistol). Bob Taylor saw
him on the 19" Novemnber 2002, Mr Taylor drew the conclusion that Mr Grant was a late middle-aged man whose
life was falling apart afler his wife had lefi several weeks before. He felt that Mr Grant was distressed, drinking o
exeess but not il Bob Taylor decided 1o discharge Mr Grant with no follow-up,

Mr Gram presemted o day or so later after a large overdose of DF118. e was seen by KW who feli concerned
enough to offer admission. There were symptoms suggestive of depression (diurnal variation, low mood biological
symptomsa) bui these exiended back only two weeks causing diagnostic difficulties. Another cause of concermn was
that Mr Grant was o Dentist and therefore at high risk of seli~harm because of the knowledge that he would have,
There also appeared 1o be loss issues nssociated with Mr Grant having to give up his profession due 1o an accident,
KW filled out a form for Section 2 but Mr Grant was persunded to come informally. He was admitted 1o Fletcher
Ward (there were no beds on Gwaynien Ward) and was seen by Dr Paifigld o Locum Consuliant. There were some
dingnostic difficulties. Did Mr Grant have an adjustment disorder? Or depression? His mood picked up as he dried
out from the aleohol and he wanted to go home. Dr Patfield felt it was not appropriate w detaln Mr Grant when he
wanted o go home, saying that if' he had detained him it would have turned it in to n power struggle and would have
been counter therapeutic. He discussed this with KW at the time. Dr Patfield also commented on Mr Granl's
personnlity tralis including narcissistie personality. Mr Grant was followed up by the CMHT (namely AY, CPN)
and KW In outpatlents, He continued 0 drink heavily, his thoughts were circular and he was pre-pccupled with the
breakdown of his marriage.

It emerged that Mr Grant had not lost his Oogers in an aceident bul had deliberately cansed them io be severed, Al
this time his Dentnl Practice was about 1o be investigated by the GDC and he benefited financially from a lurge
insurance pay out,

At these times, references io firearms came up. These were not always consistent.  The Team debated whether the

Paolice should be involved, risking the disengagement of Mr Grant. I was decided on balance to allow the family
members ta inform the Police while the Team concentratied on establishing o rapport with Mi Grant
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There was L‘lnuﬂlng concern about the risk to Lyn Grant, Peter Grant’s wife episodes in particular that coused
concern were an episode Ina car park oulside a restaurant when she first tried 1o leave him. Mr Grant assnulted Mes
Cirnnt and she sustnined marks on her thioat, When Mis Grant had first left Mr Grant and gone to live in London
she left various belongings behind which he cut in to tiny pleces, even including her shoes. Mrs Grant was his major
socinl contact and he was quite lost without her,

Refore Christmas there was an gpisode of contuet when Mr Grant wis drinking heavily and made statements of
suicidal intent. Lyn had said that she would come down for Christmas but later back tracked. There was an incident
with reckless driving of a tractor. Mr Grant was brought in by his brother in-low, He was admitied o Gwaynten;
his second psychiatric admission. During this admission, Mr Grant’s mood improved as be sobered up. Shortly
before Christmas there wis a stormy ward meeting with Dr Wood. Dr Wood considered detention because of the
risk of suicidality and the fact that Mr Grant was not engaging in services. Dr Wood filled out an application for
Sgetion 2. When Dr Falkner, the patients own GP arrived he found Mr Grant with his wife Lyn tnlking of
peconciliation and wanting to have the chanee to go home and sort out things right in the marringe. Dr Falkner
therefore did not complete the second medical recommendation.

When Mr Grant was followed up in the Mew Year afier being away for a while he seemed little changed other than
talking of complinnce with his medieation. Detention continued to seem inappropriate. The Team talked of the
risks to Mrs Grant as there wis un ongoing sense of concern. The Team was coming to the Idea of arfanging o
Forensic nssessment.

.‘idigﬁ sitiintion oceurred with Mre P Granl in the home threatening to kill himsell with a gun.  Police marksman m
sceng, D V Bridges nssessed Mr Grant af the Custody Centre where it had required 6 Policemen io restrain him,
On interview it appeared that the situntion had arisen following Mras Grant breaking her promise to come to
Cornwall and Mr Grant subsequent threat to kill himself, During the examination Mr Grant minimised the situation
and accused family members of over estimating his threats.

Dr ¥ Iil‘idgn and ASW lan Matthews mitinlly agreed to complele Section 2 of the Mental Health Act; however by
the e the Police Doclor artived to complete the application Mr Grant siated that he would go into hospiial as a
voluntary patient, Section 2 not compleied. On arival al Gwaviten Unit, Mr Grani refused (o stay, as o single room
wig not aviilable, He once agaln refused 1o atay, Dr V' Bridges arranged for Mr Grant to be escorted to Horvest
Ward due ta his prior presentation as an informal patlent with a view 1o a full forensic assessiment being undertaken,

s ASW Mr lan Marthows writes in a letter o Dr K Wood his concemns re Mr Grant ie:

#  He may possibly have n treatable depression masked by anger.

= He may have a psychopathic disorder {including Morbid Jealousy), which could place his wife in
danger.

= e is impulsive,

s  He hns made 5 previous gestures of self-harm, some of which were melodramatic, but nevertheless
placed him ai risk.

= He may need n Forensic nssessment.  However when Mr Grant wis interviewed by Dr Meyer, Police
Station and in view of his acceptance of informal admission, no grounds remained for detention.

Dr N, Eastwood examined Mr Orant and team on Harvest Ward where no evidence of depressive illness or
paychosis were found and preventative detention was found not to be appropriate in Mr Grani's ease. He was
subsequently diseharged back (o CMHT for follow-up.

The MD Team met with Mr Grant in March 2003 1o identify future management plan, An ngreed oulcome with M
Grant, who by this point had made considerable progress engaging with a Private Thempist, stopped drinking
aleohol and stated his compliance with low dose of medication. The team's decision was to discharge based on the
following: =
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& Paychologist Me D Oxford had seon both Mr and Mrs Grant . He identified that the danger point would be (f
Mrs Grant eatablished o new relationship. Mr Grant was given guidiance on various Therapists and advice on
Psychological Theraples,

= DV Bridges had also informed brs Grant that jenlous men can do dangerous things and advised her not to
contael her husband. It was felt by the team that Mrs Grant had disengogement difficulties,

=GP Dr Falkner reports ta the team thai he was in contact with Mrs Grant over the last 2 weeks, when she once
again did not appear to accept the potential risk 1 her from her husband,

= Mrs Grant was referred to the Carrick ©2 Grant by her GP for Counselling and was seen by CPN Sharon
Collier. Advice and guidance was given on how to maintain her own safety.

= Mr Grani telephoned CPN AV, where he expressed some concerns re his Therapist, the advice given was 1o be
compliant with medication, absiin from aleohol and begin 1w re-build his life.

= |, Grant's change in presentation

= Discontinuniion of alcohel consumption

= Twao clear weeks without contacting his wife,

= Conereie future plans estnblished thal were very positive ie. move to Africa 1o set up an organisation 1o traln
Dientists. These plans were viewed by the team to be posiiive, as they did not invelve his wife,

= [Engaged with a Counsellor, which Mr Grant preferred to CMHT follow-up.

= Mr Grant's rejection of ongoing CMHT involvement and his BNA of arranged appointments with Dr K, Wood,

= (pen acoess al anylime agreed and put in place.

Summney:

Mr P Gipant was a1 51 -vear-old man who appears o have committed homicide followed by suicide. He had been in
contact with Carrick CMHT for n period of four months, He exlibited damaging drinking. an attachment disorder, a
form of Personality Disorder, i diagnosis of Depressive lllness, was not sustained, nor evidence of psychotic illness
or morbid jealousy. He had three admissions to hospital for various reasons and was found not 1o be detainable.

Moie than one practitioner considered detention, it was however, not found to be approprinte, He was aveniually
disehirged from the service lollowing a MDT Meeting with Mr Grant with the following; -

s Advige on aleohol
= Advice on medication
*  Open access in place

Learning Points:

¢ Should the MD Team have contacied the Private Therapist and briefed her on history/elinieal information for
risk management purposes. This would have required Mr CGrant's permission, however the weam did not discuss
this course of action with Mr Grant,

#  Should CPT have a Policy In place 1o elarify exchange of information/confidentiality/disclosure of risk and
under what clreumstances,

#  Mrs Grant was fully informed of the risks and given guidance on how o malntain her own safety. The private
Therapist was however nol given any clinical history.

¢ LUnifled Records involving varlous team members and two Inpatient Units highlighis the difficuliies in
maintaining notes in date order. This alone, with C2 Client information being recorded separately highlights the
need for the early introduction of Electronie Client Records,

#  Those present at the meeting recognised that great consideration was taken with this ease and ne other identified
actions would ultimately have changed the outcome,

#  The members present are nware of the fortheoming Internal Investigations and await their findings,
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internal review.

APPENDIX G

POLICY FRAMEWORK

The policies listed in the following table have been referred to in the course of this

POLICY REG NO | POLICY TITLE SECTION NAME | DRAFT/RATIFIED
CLIN MHI-/00312001 | PSYCHIATRIC INTENSIVE | MENTAL HEALTH | UNDER REVIEW
CARE UNIT

OPERATIONAL POLICY

CLIN MH/~100912002

THE SUPERVISION
REGISTER SYSTEM
(POLICY AND
PROCEDLURE)

MENTAL HEALTH

RATIFIED

CLIN MH/1-013,2002

STANDARDS FOR ON-CALL
CLINICAL MANAGERS
AND COMMUNITY TEAM

MENTAL HEALTH

CONSULTATION

LEADERS
CLIN MH/A/016/2001 BED MANAGEMENT MENTAL HEALTH RATIFIED
POLICY AT TIMES OF
INCREASED PRESSLIRE
CLIN MH/-103972002 | CARE CO-ORDINATION MENTAL HEALTH | RATIFIED
POLICY
CLIN MH/-104012003 | FORENSIC MENTAL MENTAL HEALTH | RATIFIED
HEALTH SERVICES

OPERATIONAL POLICY

CLIN MH/-10441 2002

CARE OF PSYCHIATRIC
PATIENTS WHO ARE
INPATIENT

MENTAL HEALTH

CONSULTATION

APFROACH TO THE
SUPERVISION OF
CLINICAL PRACTICE

CLIN MH/-104612003 | ADULT MENTAL HEALTH MENTAL HEALTH RATIFIED
INPATIENT DISCHARGE
PLANNING POLICY | [——
CORP CL/-003/2003 LEARNING FROM CLINICAL CONSULTATION
EXPERIENCE GOVERNANCE
CORP CM/-00772001 FRAMEWOQOREK DOCUMENT | CORPORATE UNDER REVIEW
FOR THE ALLEGED ABUSE | MANAGEMENT
: OF VULNERABLE ADLILTS
CORP CM/- FRAMEWORK DOCUMENT | CORPORATE UNDER REVIEW
1007/2001/MH FOR THE ALLEGED ABUSE | MANAGEMENT
OF VULNERABLE ADLULTS
~MEMNTAL HEALTH
CORP RM/-/009/2000 | SERIOUS UNTOWARD RISK RATIFIED
INCIDENT POLICY MANAGEMENT |
CORP RM/-A0972003 CLINICAL RISK RISk ASSESSMENT | CONSULTATION
ASSESSMENT AND RISK
MANAGEMENT POLICY
CORP POLICY FOR SIGNIFICANT | RISK RATIFIED
RMICHC/001/2002 EVENT MANAGEMENT MANAGEMENT
CORP CG//001/2002 | A SUPERVISEE LED CORPORATE RATIFIED
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Paper No: 2004 -

South West Peninsula m

strategic Health Authority

REPORT
To: South West Peninsula Strategic Health Authority
Title: ‘Hand §' Action Plan - Progress Report
From: Anthony Farnsworth
Director of Dalivery
Contributors: Susan Benjamin
Folicy Lead — Mental Health
Mark Steer
Director of Nursing = Cornwall Partnership Trust
Date: 11 November 2004
Summary: This is the 12 month progress report of the implementation
of the 'H & S' Action Plans.
The report details the progress made and the outstanding
actions,
Action The Board is asked to note the report and ongoing action.
requested;

SB/Ing.453



Paper No: 2004 -

South West Peninsula m

Strategic Health Authority

REPORT
To: South West Peninsula Strategic Health Authority
Title: ‘X' Action Plan - Six Month Progress Report
From: Anthony Farnsworth

Director of Delivery

Contributors: Susan Benjamin
Policy Lead — Mental Health
Mark Steer

Director of Nursing — Cornwall Partnership Trust

Date: 11 November 2004

Summary: This report is a summary of the progress that has been
made in implementing the X" Action Plan,

Action The Board is asked to note the report and nota that a further
requested: report will be made to May 2005 Board meeting.

SB/Ing. 456



